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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

The directors of RCE CAPITAL BERHAD have pleasure in submitting their report and the 

audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 

March 2011. 

 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

           

The principal activities of the Company are that of investment holding and provision of 

management services.  

 

The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are as disclosed in Note 17 to the 

financial statements.  

 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these principal activities during the 

financial year other than as disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements. 

 

 

FINANCIAL RESULTS  
 

The audited results of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 

2011 are as follows: 

 

 The 

Group 

 The 

Company 

 RM  RM 

   

Profit for the financial year 104,256,541 8,084,525 

 

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the Group and of the Company during the 

financial year have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a 

material and unusual nature other than as disclosed in the financial statements.  

 



   Company No. 2444 - M    

 
              

 2

DIVIDENDS 

      
Dividends paid since the end of the previous financial year are as follows: 

 

In respect of financial year ended 31 March 2010: 

 

 RM 
 

Final dividend of 17.5% on 782,395,174 ordinary shares, declared on 16  

  August 2010 and paid on 28 September 2010 

 

  

- 9.0% less 25% tax 5,281,167 

- 8.5% single-tier, tax exempt 6,650,359 

  

  11,931,526 

 

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, a final single-tier dividend in respect of the 

financial year ended 31 March 2011 of 15% on 782,395,174 ordinary shares amounting to 

RM11,735,928 will be proposed for shareholders’ approval. The financial statements for the 

current financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the 

shareholders, will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the 

financial year ending 31 March 2012. 

 

 

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS 
             

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year 

other than as disclosed in the financial statements. 

 

 

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES 

 

During the financial year, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company was increased 

to RM78,239,517 by way of the issuance of 326,700 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each 

pursuant to the Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) at an exercise price of RM0.59 

per ordinary share for cash. The newly issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with the 

existing shares of the Company.  

 
There were no other issues of shares of debentures during the financial year. 
 
 
ESOS 
        

The ESOS is governed by the by-laws which were approved by the shareholders at an 

Extraordinary General Meeting held on 20 August 2009. The ESOS was implemented on 15 

September 2009 and is to be in force for a period of ten (10) years from the date of 

implementation. The salient features of the ESOS are disclosed in Note 38 to the financial 

statements. 
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ESOS (CONT’D) 
 

There are no share options granted since the end of the previous financial year. 
 

The movements of number of share options pursuant to the ESOS during the financial year 

are as follows: 
 

ESOS expiring on 14 September 2019 

 Number of options over ordinary shares of RM0.10 each 

 

 

Grant date 

Exercise 

price per 

share 

 Balance  

as at 

1.4.2010 

  

 

Granted 

  

 

Exercised 

  

Cancelled/ 

Lapsed 

 Balance  

as at 

31.3.2011 

 RM           
     

24 March 2010 0.59  17,843,900  -  (326,700)  (1,248,300)  16,268,900 
 

 

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the 

Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps: 
 

(a) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad 

debts and the making of allowance for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all 

known bad debts had been written off and that adequate allowance had been made for 

doubtful debts; and 
 

(b) to ensure that any current assets, which were unlikely to realise their book values in 

the ordinary course of business had been written down to their estimated realisable 

values. 

 

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances: 
 

(a) which would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the 

allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of the 

Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or 

 

(b) which would render the values attributed to the current assets in the financial 

statements of the Group and of the Company misleading; or 

 

(c) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of 

assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate; or 

 
(d) not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial statements which would render any 

amount stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 

misleading. 
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OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONT’D) 
 

At the date of this report, there does not exist: 
 

(a) any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since 

the end of the financial year which secures the liability of any other person; or 

 

(b) any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the 

end of the financial year. 
 

No contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable 

within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may 

substantially affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations as 

and when they fall due. 
 

In the opinion of the directors, no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature 

has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report 

which is likely to affect substantially the results of operations of the Group and of the 

Company for the succeeding financial year. 
 

 

DIRECTORS 
      

The directors who served on the Board of the Company since the date of the last report are: 
 

Tan Sri Azman Hashim 

Dato’ Ab. Halim Bin Mohyiddin  

Major General (Rtd) Dato’ Haji Fauzi Bin Hussain  

Datuk Mohd Zaman Khan @ Hassan Bin Rahim Khan 

Dato’ Che Md Nawawi Bin Ismail  

Chew Keng Yong 

Soo Kim Wai 

Shalina Azman 

Shahman Azman 
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 
           

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, the interest of directors in office at the 

end of financial year in shares in the Company and its related companies during the financial 

year are as follows: 

 

       Number of ordinary shares of RM0.10 each  

 Balance as    Balance as 
  at 1.4.2010 Bought Sold at 31.3.2011 

     

Direct interest     

     
Chew Keng Yong 1,963,600 3,150,000 - 5,113,600 

 

Indirect interest     

     

Tan Sri Azman Hashim 323,927,169 - - 323,927,169 

Chew Keng Yong - 2,558,200 - 2,558,200 

 

By virtue of his interest being more than 15% of the share capital of the Company, Tan Sri 

Azman Hashim is deemed to have an interest in all the subsidiary companies to the extent 

that the Company has an interest. 

 

None of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares 

in the Company or its related companies during and at the end of the financial year. 

 

 

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS 

           

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or 

become entitled to receive any benefit (other than the benefit included in the aggregate 

amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors as disclosed in the 

financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation 

with the director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in 

which the director has a substantial financial interest, except for any benefit which may be 

deemed to have arisen by virtue of the balances and transactions with companies in which 

certain directors of the Company are also directors and/or have substantial financial interests 

as disclosed in Note 26 to the financial statements. 

 
During and at the end of the financial year, there were no arrangement subsisted to which the 

Company was a party whereby directors of the Company might acquire benefits by means of 

the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate other 

than the share options granted pursuant to the Company’s ESOS as disclosed in Note 38 to 

the financial statements. 
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SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

 
Details of significant event are disclosed in Note 40 to the financial statements. 

 

 

AUDITORS 
     

The auditors, Deloitte KassimChan, have indicated their willingness to continue in office. 

 

 

Signed on behalf of the Board  

in accordance with a resolution of the directors 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TAN SRI AZMAN HASHIM  SOO KIM WAI 
 

 

Kuala Lumpur 

9 June 2011 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 

RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 
 

We have audited the financial statements of RCE CAPITAL BERHAD which comprise the 

statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 March 2011 and 

the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of 

cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a 

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on 

pages 10 to 109. 

 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that 

give a true and fair view in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the 

Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for such internal controls as the directors determine 

are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

Auditors’ Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit 

and to report our opinion to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies 

Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards 

any other person for the contents of this report. 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. 

Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 

judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 

consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with 

Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so 

as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 

31 March 2011 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then 

ended. 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report 

that: 

 

(a) in our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act 

to be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors 

have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act; 

 

(b) we are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiary companies that have 

been consolidated with the financial statements of the Company are in form and 

content appropriate and proper for the purpose of the preparation of the financial 

statements of the Group, and we have received satisfactory information and 

explanations as required by us for these purposes; and 

 

(c) the auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiary companies were not 

subject to any qualification and did not include any adverse comment made under 

Section 174(3) of the Act. 
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Other reporting responsibilities 
 

The supplementary information set out in Note 29(c) is disclosed to meet the requirement of 

Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The directors are 

responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with 

Guidance on Special Matter No. 1 “Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or 

Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 

Requirements” as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and 

the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary 

information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and 

the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

DELOITTE KASSIMCHAN 

AF 0080 

Chartered Accountants 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NG YEE HONG 

Partner – 2886/04/13 (J) 

Chartered Accountant 
 

Petaling Jaya 

9 June 2011 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 

 

  The Group The Company 
   2011  2010  2011  2010  
 Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

Revenue 5  269,585,585  255,611,375  10,315,159  28,632,595 
          

Other income   15,523,491  9,098,681  5,124,639  212,998,695 

Interest expense  

  applicable to revenue 

 

6 
 

(74,613,722) 

 

(64,715,753) 

 

(3,052,000) 

 

(3,052,000) 

Directors’ 

remuneration 

 

7 
 

(1,490,190) 

 

(3,820,358) 

 

(290,000) 

 

(2,620,168) 

Staff costs 8  (12,225,997)  (12,334,046) - (275,528) 

Depreciation of plant 

and equipment 

 

15 
 

(1,318,608) 

 

(1,356,741) 

 

(10,494) 

 

(10,494) 

Depreciation of 

investment 

properties 

 

 

16 

 

(59,930) 

 

(59,930) 

 

 

- 

  

 

- 

Write back for 

impairment loss in 

other investments 

 

 

10 

 

- 

 

210 

 

 

- 

  

 

- 

Other expenses   (55,272,532)  (72,399,054) (187,729) (21,761,239) 

Finance costs 9  (29,346)  (35,189) (123,721) (10,625) 
        

Profit before tax 10  140,098,751  109,989,195  11,775,854  213,901,236 

Income tax expense 11  (35,842,210)  (28,894,960) (3,691,329) (1,923,772) 
       

Profit for the 

financial year 

  
104,256,541 

 

81,094,235 

  

8,084,525 

  

211,977,464 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONT’D) 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 

 

  The Group The Company 
   2011  2010  2011  2010 
 Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

Other comprehensive 

income: 

    

 

  

  AFS financial assets:        

- Unrealised net gain   

on revaluation 

   

2,025,811 

  

- 

  

- 

  

- 

          

Other comprehensive 

income for the 

financial year, net of 

tax 

   

 

 

2,025,811 

  

 

 

- 

  

 

 

- 

  

 

 

- 

          

Total comprehensive 

income for the 

financial year 

 

 

  

 

106,282,352 

 

81,094,235 

  

 

8,084,525 

  

 

211,977,464 

          

Attributable to:          

Equity holders of the 

Company 

  

104,256,541 

 

81,094,235 

    

          

Earnings per share 

  attributable to equity 

  holders of the  

  Company: 

        

 

    Basic (sen) 13  13.33  10.72     

    Diluted (sen) 13  13.33  10.69     

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2011 

 

  The Group The Company 
   2011  2010  2011  2010 
 Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

        

ASSETS        
        

Non-Current Assets        

Plant and equipment 15  2,679,264  3,045,822 46,498 56,992 

Investment properties 16  2,699,792  2,786,166 - - 

Investment in 

subsidiary companies 17 
 

-  - 330,065,410 330,644,018 

Goodwill on 

consolidation 18 
 

28,676,975  28,676,975 - - 

Loans and 

receivables 19 
 

973,163,790  992,527,064 - - 

Other investments 20  2  30,387,175 2 2 

AFS financial assets 21  39,165,690  - - - 

Deferred tax assets 22  33,783,308  5,371,847 - 656,675 
        

Total Non-Current  

  Assets  
 

1,080,168,821  1,062,795,049 330,111,910 331,357,687 

        

Current Assets        

AFS financial assets 21  -  - - - 

Short term investments 23  -  4,000,000 - - 

Loans and receivables 19  112,590,590  146,080,924 - - 

Trade receivables 24  37,414,220  30,789,531 - - 

Other receivables,  

  deposits and prepaid 

  expenses 25 

 

28,549,587  5,330,487 215,435 1,131,254 

Amounts due from  

  subsidiary companies 26 - 

 

- 72,503,588      69,050,117 

Deposits with licensed  

  financial institutions 27 512,150,091 

 

270,935,391 81,920 66,058 

Cash and bank  

  balances 

 

27 2,388,030 

 

18,775,540 1,668 5,579 
       

Total Current Assets  693,092,518  475,911,873 72,802,611 70,253,008 
        

Total Assets   1,773,261,339  1,538,706,922 402,914,521 401,610,695 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONT’D) 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2011  

 

  The Group The Company 
   2011  2010  2011  2010 
 Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 
         

EQUITY AND 

  LIABILITIES  
       

        

Capital and Reserves        

Share capital 28  78,239,517  78,206,847 78,239,517 78,206,847 

Reserves 29  370,142,137  340,655,490 278,343,091 282,488,598 
        

Total Equity   448,381,654  418,862,337 356,582,608 360,695,445 

        

Non-Current  

  Liabilities 

  
 

 

   

Hire-purchase  

  payables  30 
 

580,213 

 

392,012 - - 

Borrowings  31  737,379,061  705,252,716 -  40,000,000 

Deferred tax liabilities 22  52,417,561  26,428,453 7,613   13,428 
        

Total Non-Current 

  Liabilities  
 

790,376,835 

 

732,073,181 7,613   40,013,428 

        

Current Liabilities        

Payables and accrued 

expenses 32 
 

89,290,973 

 

58,486,621 373,252 605,249 

Amount due to a 

subsidiary company 

 

26 
 

- 

 

- 5,518,541 - 

Hire-purchase 

payables 

 

30 
 

172,779 

 

210,801 - 12,066 

Finance lease payables 33  -  26,965 - - 

Borrowings 31  444,715,423  326,805,796 40,432,507 284,507 

Tax liabilities   323,675  2,241,221 - - 
        

Total Current  

  Liabilities 

  
534,502,850 

 

387,771,404 46,324,300 901,822 
        

Total Liabilities   1,324,879,685  1,119,844,585 46,331,913 40,915,250 
        

Total Equity and 

  Liabilities 

  

1,773,261,339 

 

1,538,706,922 402,914,521 401,610,695 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 

 

   Non-distributable Distributable 

   Reserves Reserve 

  Share  Share Share Retained Total  

  Capital Premium Options Earnings Reserves Total 

The Group Note RM RM RM RM RM RM 

 

                

Balance as at 1 April 2009   71,097,134   26,393,874  -  200,567,541   226,961,415  298,058,549 

                

Total comprehensive income   -   -  -  81,094,235   81,094,235  81,094,235 

                

Transactions with owners                

Dividends 14  -   -  -  (5,865,517)   (5,865,517)  (5,865,517) 

Issuance of private placement  

  shares 

  
7,109,713 

  
32,015,039 

 

-  - 

  

32,015,039 

 

39,124,752 

Shares issue expenses   -   (104,996)  -  -   (104,996)  (104,996) 

Share options granted under ESOS   -   -  6,555,314  -   6,555,314  6,555,314 

                

Total transactions with owners   7,109,713   31,910,043  6,555,314  (5,865,517)   32,599,840  39,709,553 
                

Balance as at 31 March 2010   78,206,847   58,303,917  6,555,314  275,796,259   340,655,490  418,862,337 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONT’D) 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 

 

   Non-Distributable Distributable 

                        Reserves  Reserve 

  Share Share Share       Retained Total  

  Capital Premium Options AFS      Earnings Reserves Total 

The Group Note RM RM RM RM    RM RM RM 
 

                  

Balance as at 1 April 2010   78,206,847   58,303,917  6,555,314  -  275,796,259   340,655,490  418,862,337 

Effects of adopting FRS 139   -   -  -  6,752,706  (71,776,967)   (65,024,261)  (65,024,261) 
                  

Restated as at 1 April 2010 2.1  78,206,847   58,303,917  6,555,314  6,752,706  204,019,292   275,631,229  353,838,076 
                  

Total comprehensive income   -   -  -  2,025,811  104,256,541   106,282,352  106,282,352 

                  

Transactions with owners                  

Dividends 14  -   -  -  -  (11,931,526)   (11,931,526)  (11,931,526) 

Issuance of shares pursuant to  

  ESOS exercised 

  
32,670 

  
280,102 

  

(120,020) 

  

- 

  

- 

   

160,082 

  

192,752 

Cancellation of share options   -   -  (458,588)  -  458,588   -  - 

                  

Total transactions with owners   32,670   280,102  (578,608)  -  (11,472,938)   (11,771,444)  (11,738,774) 

                  

Balance as at 31 March 2011   78,239,517   58,584,019  5,976,706  8,778,517  296,802,895   370,142,137  448,381,654 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONT’D) 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011  

 

   Non-Distributable Distributable   

   Reserves Reserve   

  Share Share Share Retained               Total  

  Capital Premium Options Earnings         Reserves              Total 

The Company Note RM RM RM RM                  RM                RM 
 

            

Balance as at 1 April 2009   71,097,134  26,393,874 - 11,517,420   37,911,294 109,008,428 

            

Total comprehensive income   -  - - 211,977,464   211,977,464 211,977,464 

            

Transactions with owners            

Dividends 14  -  - - (5,865,517)   (5,865,517) (5,865,517) 

Issuance of private placement shares   7,109,713  32,015,039 - -   32,015,039 39,124,752 

Shares issue expenses   -  (104,996) - -   (104,996) (104,996) 

Share options granted under ESOS   -  - 6,555,314 -   6,555,314 6,555,314 

            

Total transactions with owners   7,109,713  31,910,043 6,555,314 (5,865,517)   32,599,840 39,709,553 

            

Balance as at 31 March 2010   78,206,847  58,303,917 6,555,314 217,629,367   282,488,598 360,695,445 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONT’D) 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011  

 

   Non-Distributable Distributable   

   Reserves Reserve   

  Share Share Share Retained               Total  

  Capital Premium Options Earnings         Reserves              Total 

The Company Note RM RM RM RM                  RM                RM 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

             

Balance as at 1 April 2010   78,206,847  58,303,917 6,555,314 217,629,367   282,488,598  360,695,445 

             

Total comprehensive income   -  - - 8,084,525   8,084,525  8,084,525 

             

Transactions with owners             

Dividends 14  -  - - (11,931,526)  (11,931,526) (11,931,526) 

Issuance of shares pursuant to  

  ESOS exercised 

  
32,670 

 
280,102 

 

(120,020) - 
  

160,082 

 

192,752 

Cancellation of share options   -  - (458,588) -   (458,588)  (458,588) 

             

Total transactions with owners   32,670  280,102 (578,608) (11,931,526)   (12,230,032)  (12,197,362) 

             

Balance as at 31 March 2011   78,239,517  58,584,019 5,976,706 213,782,366   278,343,091  356,582,608 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 

 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

CASH FLOWS FROM   

  OPERATING 

  ACTIVITIES 

       

Profit for the financial year 104,256,541  81,094,235  8,084,525  211,977,464 

Adjustments for:        

  Income tax expense  35,842,210  28,894,960  3,691,329  1,923,772 

  Allowance for impairment  

    loss on receivables, net 27,194,130 

 

27,842,359 

  

- 

  

- 

  Depreciation of plant and 

equipment 1,318,608 

 

1,356,741 

  

10,494 

  

10,494 

  Amortisation of discount  

    on medium term notes 

    (“MTNs”)  1,238,664 

 

2,238,898 

  

 

- 

  

 

- 

  Loss on early redemption of 

    MTNs 210,500  1,755,000  -  - 

  Depreciation of investment  

    properties 59,930 

 

59,930 

  

- 

  

- 

  Finance costs 29,346  35,189  123,721  10,625 

  Allowance for impairment  

    loss in investment properties 26,444  -  -  - 

  Share options granted under 

ESOS -  6,555,314  -  2,626,696 

  Plant and equipment 

    written off - 

 

2,848 

  

- 

  

- 

  Investments in subsidiary 

companies written off -  -  -  21,336,802 

  Investment income (10,431,601) (4,734,460)  (2,968)  (11,934) 

  Dividend income (6,073,695) (3,156,890)  (2,700,000)  (21,021,246) 

  Capital repayment from  

    investment in real estate   

    investment trust (“REIT”) (61,293) -  -  - 

Gain on disposal of plant 

  and equipment (55,078) (185)  -  - 

Write back for impairment 

loss in other investments - (210)  -  - 

  Interest income from    

    amounts due from  

    subsidiary companies - -  (5,121,671)  (4,003,350) 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT’D) 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011  

 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
  
  Gain on redemption of  

    preference shares in a  

    subsidiary company - - 

 

 

- 

 

 

(208,883,409) 

  Waiver of debt due to 

subsidiary companies - - 

 

- 

 

(100,002) 

     

Operating Profit Before 

Working Capital Changes 153,554,706 141,943,729 4,085,430 3,865,912 

     

(Increase)/Decrease in:     

  AFS financial assets - 28,543 - - 

  Loans and receivables    (34,430,508) (213,383,398) - - 

  Trade receivables (6,878,722) 2,292,571 - - 

  Other receivables, deposits 

    and prepaid expenses (13,043,434) 1,733,459 

 

150,087 

 

145,131 

  Amounts due from 

    subsidiary companies - - 

 

6,388,290 

 

(55,445,034) 
     

Increase in:     

  Payables and accrued 

    expenses  864,278 24,891,614 

 

(241,367) 

 

17,478 
     

Cash Generated From/(Used    

   In) Operations 100,066,320 (42,493,482) 

 

10,382,440 

 

(51,416,513) 
     

Taxes paid (28,126,122) (17,977,236) (2,631,666) (2,760,984) 

Taxes refunded 1,323,283 739,470 1,179,929 - 

     

Net Cash Generated 

From/(Used In) Operating 

Activities 73,263,481 (59,731,248) 

 

 

8,930,703 

 

 

(54,177,497) 

     

CASH FLOWS FROM   

  INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

  

Investment income received 10,431,601 4,734,460 2,968 11,934 

Dividend received 6,073,695 3,156,890 2,700,000 21,021,246 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT’D) 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011  

 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

Proceeds from disposal of  

plant and equipment 375,808 21,324 

 

- 

 

- 

Capital repayment from  

  investment in REIT 61,293 - 

 

- 

 

- 

Additions to plant and 

equipment (691,280) (549,848) 

 

- 

 

- 

     

Net Cash Generated From 

  Investing Activities 16,251,117 7,362,826 

 

2,702,968 

 

21,033,180 

     

CASH FLOWS FROM  

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

  

Drawdown of revolving credits 325,430,207 336,230,195 - - 

Repayment of revolving credits (251,583,135) (354,775,020) - - 

Proceeds from issuance of 

asset-backed securities 

(“ABS”) 209,000,000 150,000,000 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

Redemption of ABS (81,000,000) (54,000,000) - - 

Drawdown of term loans - 100,000,000 - - 

Settlement of term loans (52,278,210) (6,693,288) - - 

Redemption of MTNs (20,210,501) (47,175,733) - - 

Redemption of bonds and 

commercial papers, net (4,000,000) (20,000,000) 

 

- 

 

- 

Drawdown of other borrowings 92,716,236 55,176,728 - - 

Settlement of other borrowings (70,544,969) (63,558,731) - - 

Issuance of shares 192,752 39,124,752 312,772 39,124,752 

Dividends paid (11,922,156) (5,834,289) (11,922,156) (5,834,289) 

Repayment of:     

  Hire-purchase payables (431,321) (211,391) (12,066) (22,861) 

  Finance lease payables (26,965) (125,323) - - 

Finance costs paid (29,346) (35,189) (270) (1,883) 

Share issuance expenses - (104,996) - (104,996) 

     

Net Cash Generated 

  From/(Used in) Financing  

  Activities 135,312,592 128,017,715 

 

 

(11,621,720) 

 

 

33,160,723 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT’D) 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011  

 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

NET CHANGE IN CASH 

  AND CASH   

  

  EQUIVALENTS 224,827,190 75,649,293 11,951 16,406 

     

CASH AND CASH 

  EQUIVALENTS    

  

  AT BEGINNING  

  OF FINANCIAL YEAR 289,710,931 214,061,638 

 

71,637 

 

55,231 

     

CASH AND CASH 

  EQUIVALENTS    

  

  AT END OF FINANCIAL 

YEAR (NOTE 27)                                                                     514,538,121 289,710,931 

 

83,588 

 

71,637 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 



   Company No. 2444 - M    

 
              

 22

RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 March 2011 

 

 

1.   CORPORATE INFORMATION              

 

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in 

Malaysia, and is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.  

 

The registered office of the Company is located at 312, 3rd Floor, Block C, Kelana 

Square, 17 Jalan SS7/26, 47301 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia. 

 

The principal place of business of the Company is located at 2-01 Block B, AMCORP 

Tower, AMCORP Trade Centre, No. 18, Jalan Persiaran Barat, 46050, Petaling Jaya, 

Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia. 

 

The principal activities of the Company are that of investment holding and provision of 

management services. The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are as 

disclosed in Note 17. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these 

principal activities during the financial year other than as disclosed in Note 17. 

 

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been authorised by the 

Board of Directors for issuance on 9 June 2011. 

                    

 

2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in 

accordance with Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) and the provisions of the 

Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. 

 

The preparation of financial statements requires the directors to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. In addition, the directors are also required 

to exercise their judgements in the process of applying the accounting policies. The 

areas involving such judgements, estimates and assumptions are disclosed in Note 4. 

Although these estimates and assumptions are based on the directors’ best knowledge of 

events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

 

2.1 Changes in Accounting Policies 

 
As at the date of issuance of the financial statements, certain new and revised FRSs, 

Amendments and IC Interpretations which are relevant to the operations of the Group 

and of the Company are as follows: 

 
FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

FRS 8 Operating Segments 

FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised) 

FRS 123 Borrowings Costs (Revised) 

FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

  

Amendments:  

FRS 2 Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 

FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements: Cost of an   

Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or 

Associate 

FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation 

  

IC Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment 

IC Interpretation 11 FRS 2 – Group and Treasury Shares Transactions 

  

Improvements to FRSs (2009) which include Amendments to FRSs 8, 107, 108, 110, 

116, 117, 118, 119, 123, 127, 134, 136, 138 and 140 

 
The adoption of the above has not resulted in significant financial impact on the 

financial statements of the Group and of the Company, other than the effects and 

changes as disclosed below: 

 

(a) FRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

 

FRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial 

instruments. It requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information 

about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including specified 

minimum disclosures about credit, liquidity and market risks, including 

sensitivity analysis to market risk. 

 

The Group and the Company have applied FRS 7 prospectively in accordance 

with the transitional provisions. Hence, the new disclosures have not been 

applied to the comparatives. The new disclosures are included throughout the 

Group and the Company’s financial statements for the financial year ended 31 

March 2011. 
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2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

 

2.1 Changes in Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 

 

(b) FRS 8: Operating Segments  
 

FRS 8 replaces FRS1142004: Segment Reporting and requires a “management 

approach”, under which segment information is presented on a similar basis to 

that used for internal reporting purposes. As a result, the Group’s external 

segment reporting will be based on the internal reporting to the “chief operating 

decision maker”, who makes decisions on the allocation of resources and 

assesses the performance of the reportable segments. The reportable operating 

segments determined in accordance with FRS 8 are the same as the business 

segments  previously  identified  under  FRS1142004.  As this is a disclosure 

standard, there will be no impact on the financial position and results of the 

Group. 

 

(c) FRS 101: Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised) 

 
The revised FRS 101 separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. 

Therefore, the consolidated statement of changes in equity will now include 

only details of transactions with owners. All non-owner changes in equity are 

presented in a single line labelled as total comprehensive income. 

 

The standard also introduces the statement of comprehensive income; presenting 

all items of income and expense recognised in profit or loss, together with all 

other items of income and expense recognised directly in equity, either in one 

single statement, or in two linked statements. 

 

In addition, a statement of financial position is required at the beginning of the 

earliest comparative period following a change in accounting policy, the 

correction of an error or the classifications of items in the financial statements. 

 

The revised FRS101 also requires the Group to make new disclosures to enable 

users of the financial statements to evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and 

processes for managing capital (see Note 37 on Capital Management). 

 

(d) FRS 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

 

FRS139 establishes principle for recognising and measuring financial assets and 

liabilities. The Group and the Company have adopted FRS139 prospectively on 

1 April 2010 in accordance with the transitional provisions. The effects arising 

from the adoption of this standard have been accounted for by adjusting the 

opening balance of retained earnings and reserve as at 1 April 2010. 

Comparatives are not restated. The details of changes in accounting policies 

arising from the adoption of FRS139 are set out below. 
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2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

 

2.1 Changes in Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 

 

(d) FRS 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Cont’d) 
 

(i) Effective interest method 

 

The effective interest method is used in calculating the amortised cost 

of the financial assets or liabilities and the allocation of interest 

income/(expense) over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 

(“EIR”) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 

(including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part 

of the EIR, transaction costs and other premiums or 

discounts)/(payments) through the expected life of the financial assets 

or liabilities, or (where appropriate), a shorter period, to the net carrying 

amount on initial recognition.  

 

(ii) AFS financial assets 
 

Prior to 1 April 2010, other investments representing investment in 

quoted shares are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Upon the adoption of FRS 139, these investments are designated as 

AFS financial assets. The adjustments to the previous carrying amounts 

are recognised as adjustments to the opening balance of AFS reserve as 

at 1 April 2010.  

 

(iii) Impairment of financial assets 
 

Prior to 1 April 2010, allowance for doubtful debts was recognised when 

it was considered uncollectible. Upon the adoption of FRS139, an 

impairment loss is recognised when there is objective evidence that an 

impairment loss has been incurred. The amount of the loss is measured 

as the difference between the receivable’s carrying amount and the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 

receivable’s original effective interest rate. As at 1 April 2010, the 

Group has remeasured the allowance of impairment losses as at that date 

in accordance with FRS139 and the difference is recognised as 

adjustments to the opening balance of retained earnings as at that date.  
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2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

 

2.1 Changes in Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 

 

In line with the transitional provisions under Para 103AA of FRS139, the changes of 

the above accounting policies arising from the initial adoption of FRS139 have been 

applied prospectively and resulted in the following adjustments against the opening 

balances: 

 

  

As at  

1 April 2010 

 Effects of 

adoption of 

FRS 139 

 Restated  

as at 

1 April 2010 

 RM  RM  RM 

      

Effects on:      

  Loans and receivables 1,138,607,988  (60,688,417)  1,077,919,571 

  Other investments 30,387,175  (30,387,173)  2 

  AFS financial assets -  37,139,879  37,139,879 

  Deferred tax assets 5,371,847  23,612,217  28,984,064 

  Short term investments 4,000,000  (4,000,000)  - 

  Trade receivables 30,789,531  344,398  31,133,929 

  Deferred tax liabilities 26,428,453  13,983  26,442,436 

  Payables and accrued expenses 58,486,621  31,031,182  89,517,803 

      

Effects on:      

  Retained earnings 275,796,259  (71,776,967)  204,019,292 

      

Effects on:      

  AFS reserve -  6,752,706  6,752,706 

 

 



   Company No. 2444 - M    

 
              

 27

2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

 

2.2 Accounting Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Issued but Not Effective 

 
The Group has not adopted the following standards, amendments and interpretations 

that have been issued but not yet effective: 

 

 

 

 

 

Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on 

or after 
   

FRS3 Business Combinations (Revised) 1 July 2010 

   

Amendments:   

FRS2 Share-based Payment 1 July 2010 

FRS127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 1 July 2010 

FRS138 Intangible Assets 1 July 2010 

FRS7 Improving Disclosures about Financial 

Instruments 

1 January 2011 

FRS124 Related Party Disclosures 1 January 2012 

   

Improvements to FRSs (2010) which include Amendments to FRSs 

3, 7, 101, 132, 134 and 139 

 

1 January 2011 

 

The Group and the Company will adopt the above FRSs, Amendments and IC 

Interpretations when they become effective. The adoption will not result in any 

significant financial impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the 

Company. 

 

 

3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

                

3.1 Basis of Accounting 

  

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under 

the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

 

3.2 Basis of Consolidation 
 

 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 

Company and all its subsidiary companies made up to the end of the financial year 

using the acquisition method of accounting. The financial statements of the subsidiary 

companies are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 

3.2 Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d) 

 

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the cost of business combination is 

measured at the aggregate of fair values at the date of exchange, of assets given, 

liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued plus any costs directly 

attributable to the business combination. 

 

At the acquisition date, the cost of business combination is allocated to identifiable 

assets acquired, liabilities assumed and contingent liabilities in the business 

combination which are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.  

The excess of the cost of business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair 

value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised as 

goodwill (see Note 3.9 on Goodwill on Consolidation).  

 

If the cost of business combination is less than the interest in the net fair value of the 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, the Group will: 

 

(a) reassess the identification and measurement of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the 

business combination; and 

 

(b) recognise immediately in profit or loss any excess remaining after that 

reassessment. 

 

When a business combination includes more than one exchange transaction, any 

adjustment to the fair values of the subsidiary company’s identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities relating to previously held interests of the Group is accounted 

for as a revaluation. 

 

Subsidiary companies are consolidated from the acquisition date, which is the date on 

which the Group effectively obtains control, until the date on which the Group ceases to 

control the subsidiary companies. Control exists when the Group has the power to 

govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 

activities. In assessing control, the existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 

currently convertible or exercisable are taken into consideration. 

 

Intragroup balances, transactions and unrealised gains and losses on intragroup 

transactions are eliminated in full. Intragroup losses may indicate an impairment that 

requires recognition in the consolidated financial statements.   

 

The gain or loss on disposal of a subsidiary company, which is the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the Group’s share of its net assets as at the date of 

disposal including the carrying amount of goodwill and the cumulative amount of any 

exchange differences that relate to the subsidiary company, is recognised in the profit or 

loss. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

 

3.2 Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d) 

 

Minority interest is that portion of the profit or loss and net assets of a subsidiary 

company attributable to equity interests that are not owned, directly or indirectly 

through subsidiary companies by the Group. It is measured at the minority’s share of 

the fair value of the subsidiary companies’ identifiable assets and liabilities at the 

acquisition date and the minority’s share of changes in the subsidiary companies’ equity 

since that date. 

 

Where losses applicable to the minority in a subsidiary company exceed the minority’s 

interest in the equity of that subsidiary company, the excess and any further losses 

applicable to the minority are allocated against the Group’s interest except to the extent 

that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make additional investment to 

cover the losses. If the subsidiary company subsequently reports profits, such profits are 

allocated to the Group’s interest until the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed 

by the Group have been recovered. 

 

3.3 Revenue Recognition 

 

Revenue of the Group consists mainly of interest income from loan financing, factoring 

and confirming activities, commission income from provision of financial 

administrative, debt management and information technology (“IT”) support services, 

dividend income, rental income, investment income and income from trading of 

securities. 

 

Revenue of the Company consists of management fee, dividend income from subsidiary 

companies and investment income. 

 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits 

associated with the transaction will flow to the Group, and the amount of revenue and 

the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be reliably measured 

and specific recognition criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as 

follows: 

 

(a) Interest income 

 

 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 

 

(b) Overdue interest income 

 

Overdue interest income is recognised upon collection. 

 

(c) Debt management services 
 

Fees from debt management services are recognised upon rendering of services. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

 

3.3 Revenue Recognition (Cont’d) 

 

(d) Dividend income 
 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

 

(e) Rental income 
 

Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis. 

 

(f) Trading of securities 

 

Income from trading of securities is recognised when the risks and rewards of 

ownership have passed. 

 

(g) Management fees and IT services 
 

Management fees and IT services are recognised when services are rendered. 

 

(h) Investment income 
 

Investment income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest 

method. 

 

3.4 Segment Reporting 

 

Segment reporting is presented in respect of the Group’s business segments in a manner 

consistent with the internal reporting provided to and regularly reviewed by the chief 

operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to a segment and to assess its 

performance.  

 

Business segments provide products or services that are subject to risks and returns that 

are different from those of other business segments. Geographical segments provide 

products or services within a particular economic environment that is subject to risks 

and returns that are different from those components operating in other economic 

environments.  

 

Segment revenue, expense, assets and liabilities are those amounts resulting from the 

operating activities of a segment that are directly attributable to the segment and the 

relevant portion that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to the segment. Segment 

revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are determined before intragroup balances and 

intragroup transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process, except to the 

extent that such intragroup balances and transaction are within the Group.  

 

Segment information is disclosed in Note 12. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

 

3.5 Plant and Equipment and Depreciation 

 

 Plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is 

directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. 

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 

asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 

with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

The carrying amount of parts that are replaced is derecognised. All other repairs and 

maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the financial period in which they 

are incurred.  

 

Subsequent to recognition, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less 

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of the assets to their residual 

values on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The principal 

depreciation periods and rates are as follows: 

 

Office equipment, furniture and fittings 20% 

Motor vehicles 20% 

Office renovation 20% 

Computers and IT equipment 25% 

 
At each reporting date, the carrying amount of an item of plant and equipment is 

assessed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that its 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. A write down is made if the carrying amount 

exceeds the recoverable amount (see Note 3.11(d) on Impairment of Other Non-

Financial Assets). 

 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial 

year end to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent 

with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic 

benefits embodied in the items of plant and equipment. If expectations differ from 

previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an accounting 

estimate. 

 

The carrying amount of an item of plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal or 

when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The difference 

between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount is included in profit 

or loss and the revaluation surplus related to those assets, if any, is transferred directly 

to retained earnings. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

 

3.6 Leases and Hire-Purchase 

 

(a) Classification 

 

A lease is recognised as a finance lease if it transfers substantially to the Group 

all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership. All leases that do not 

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards are classified as operating leases. 

 

(b) Finance lease and hire-purchase 

 
 Assets acquired by way of finance leases or hire-purchase are stated at an 

amount equal to the lower of their fair values and the present value of minimum 

lease payments at the inception of leases, less accumulated depreciation and any 

accumulated impairment losses. The corresponding liability is included in the 

statements of financial position as borrowings.  

 
In calculating the present value of minimum lease payments, the discount factor 

used is the interest rate implicit in the lease, when it is practicable to determine. 

Otherwise, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate is used. Any initial direct 

costs are also added to the carrying amount of such assets.  

 

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance costs and the reduction of 

the outstanding liability. Finance costs, which represent the difference between 

the total leasing commitments and the fair value of the assets acquired, are 

recognised in profit or loss on the remaining balance of the obligations for each 

accounting period.  

 

The depreciation policy for leased assets is in accordance with that for 

depreciable plant and equipment (see Note 3.5 on Plant and Equipment and 

Depreciation). 

 

(c) Operating lease 

 
Leases other than finance lease are classified as operating lease and the related 

rental is charged to profit or loss as incurred.  

 

3.7 Investment Properties 
  

Investment properties, which are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital 

appreciation are initially recorded at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the investment properties. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

any accumulated impairment losses.  

 

Depreciation of investment properties are computed on a straight-line method to write 

off the cost over its estimated useful life at the annual depreciation rate of 2%. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

 

3.7 Investment Properties (Cont’d) 
 

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when 

they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected 

from their disposal. The gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of 

investment properties are determined as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the assets are recognised in profit or loss in 

the period of the retirement or disposal. 

 

3.8 Investment in Subsidiary Companies 
 

A subsidiary company is an entity in which the Group and the Company have power to 

control the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 

convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group has such power over 

another entity. 
  

Investment in subsidiary companies, which is eliminated on consolidation, is stated at 

cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. On disposal of such an investment, the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is included in 

profit or loss. 

 

3.9 Goodwill on Consolidation 
 

Goodwill arising on consolidation is the excess of cost of investment over the Group’s 

share of the net fair value of net assets of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities, and is initially recognised as an asset at cost and subsequently 

measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s 

cash-generating units (“CGU”) expected to benefit from the synergies of the 

combination. CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment 

annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. 

If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the 

impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 

allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis of the 

carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill 

is not reversed in a subsequent period. 

 

On disposal of a subsidiary company, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in 

the determination of the gain or loss on disposal. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 

3.10 Financial Assets  

 
Financial assets are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only 

when, the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the 

financial instrument.  

 

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for 

those financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which 

are initially measured at fair value. 

 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: ‘FVTPL’, ‘held-

to-maturity’, ‘AFS’ and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the 

nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 

recognition. 

 

(a) AFS financial assets 
 

AFS financial assets are financial assets that are designated as available for sale 

or are not classified as loans and receivables, financial assets at FVTPL or held-

to-maturity investments. 

 

After initial recognition, AFS financial assets are measured at fair value. Any 

gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised 

in other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses and interest 

calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. 

The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification

adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.  

 

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in 

profit or loss. Dividends on an AFS financial asset are recognised in profit or 

loss when the Group and the Company’s right to receive payment is  established. 

 

Investment in AFS financial assets whose fair value cannot be reliably measured 

are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  

 

AFS financial assets are classified as non-current assets unless they are expected 

to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 

3.10  Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

(b) Loans and receivables 
 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

that are not quoted in an active market.  
 

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and/or losses are 

recognised in profit or loss upon derecognition or impairment, and through the 

amortisation process.  

 

Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having 

maturity later than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified as 

non-current. 

 

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from 

the asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference 

between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any 

cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is 

recognised in profit or loss. 

 

3.11  Impairment of Assets 
 

(a) AFS financial assets 

 

Significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, financial difficulties of 

the issuer or obligor, and/or the disappearance of an active trading market are 

considerations to determine whether there is objective evidence that investment 

in quoted shares classified as AFS are impaired.  

 

If an AFS financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference 

between its cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current 

fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is 

transferred from equity to profit or loss.  

  

(b) Loans and receivables 

 

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on 

financial assets has been incurred, the Group and the Company consider factors 

such as the probability of insolvency, significant financial difficulties of the 

debtor, default or significant delay in payments.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 

3.11 Impairment of Assets (Cont’d) 

 

(b) Loans and receivables (Cont’d) 
 

The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, and is the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 

discounted at the financial asset’s original EIR.  

 

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 

decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 

was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the 

extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at 

the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.  

 

The Group addresses the impairment of loans and receivables via either 

collective or individual assessment allowance as set out below.  

 

  (i) Collective assessment allowance 

 

Collective allowance is maintained to reduce the carrying amount of 

portfolio of similar loans to their estimated recoverable amounts at the 

reporting date. If it is determined that no objective evidence of 

impairment exists for an individually assessed loan, the loan is included 

in a group of loan with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 

assessed for impairment.  

 

(ii) Individual assessment allowance 
 

The Group determines the allowance appropriate for each significant 

loan on an individual basis. The allowance is established based primarily 

on estimates of the realisable value of the collateral(s) to secure the loan 

and is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the 

loan and the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted 

at the original EIR of the loan.   

 

(c)  Receivables 

 
Receivables are carried at anticipated realisable value. Bad debts are written off 

as and when ascertained and impairment is made for any debts considered to be 

doubtful of collection.   
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 

3.11 Impairment of Assets (Cont’d) 

 

(d) Other non-financial assets 
 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of non-financial 

assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 

suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 

impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 

an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-

use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 

their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 

is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the 

asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the 

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 

financial years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in 

profit or loss. 

 

3.12  Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances, deposits with licensed 

financial institutions and other short-term, highly liquid investments with maturities of 

three (3) months or less, which are readily convertible to known cash and are subject to 

an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 

3.13 Financial Liabilities 

 

 Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual 

arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability.  

 

 Financial liabilities are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and 

only when, the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of 

the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities 

at fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 

3.13 Financial Liabilities (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 

The Group and the Company have not designated any financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss.  

 

 (b) Other financial liabilities 

 
 The Group and the Company’s other financial liabilities include payables and 

borrowings.  

 

 Payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable 

transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. 

 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs 

incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group 

has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 

months after the reporting date. 

 

For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 

when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.  

 

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 

extinguished. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 

lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 

substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition 

of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 

respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.  

 

3.14 Borrowing Costs 
 

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period they are incurred. 

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group and the Company 

incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

 

3.15 Financial Guarantee Contracts 

 

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified 

payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to 

make payment when due. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

 

3.15 Financial Guarantee Contracts (Cont’d) 

 

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as liabilities at fair value, net of 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantee contracts are 

recognised as income in profit or loss over the period of the guarantee. If the debtor 

fails to make payment relating to financial guarantee contract when it is due and the 

Group, as the issuer, is required to reimburse the holder for the associated loss, the 

liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to 

settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount initially recognised 

less cumulative amortisation.  

 

3.16 Income Taxes  

        

(a) Current tax 
 

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws 

used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted 

by the reporting date.  

 
Current tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates 

to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income 

or directly in equity.  

 

(b) Deferred tax 

 

Deferred tax is recognised in full using the liability method on temporary 

differences arising between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the 

statements of financial position and its tax base. Deferred tax is recognised for 

all temporary differences, unless the deferred tax arises from goodwill or the 

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business 

combination and at the time of transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor 

taxable profit. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary 

differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. The 

carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting date.  If it 

is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the 

benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised, the carrying amount 

of the deferred tax asset will be reduced accordingly. When it becomes probable 

that sufficient taxable profits will be available, such reductions will be reversed 

to the extent of the taxable profits. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

 

3.16 Income Taxes (Cont’d) 

        

(b) Deferred tax (Cont’d) 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable 

right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the 

deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected 

to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on 

tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date.  

 

3.17 Provisions 

  

Provisions are made when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of past events, when it is probable that an outflow of the resources will be 

required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be 

made.  

 

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best 

estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect 

of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax 

rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting 

is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance 

cost.  

 

3.18 Employee Benefits 

 

(a) Short term employee benefits 

   

Wages, salaries, paid annual leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are 

accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by the 

employees of the Group. Short term accumulating compensated absences such 

as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by the 

employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences.  

 

 (b) Defined contribution plan 

 
The Group makes statutory contributions to the Employee Provident Fund, a 

defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions are charged to profit or loss 

in the period in which the related service is performed. Once the contributions 

have been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 

3.18 Employee Benefits (Cont’d) 

 

 (c) Share-based compensation 
 

The Company’s ESOS, an equity settled, share-based payment compensation 

plan, allows the Group’s eligible directors and employees to acquire ordinary 

shares of the Company.  

 

The total fair value of share options granted to eligible directors and employees 

is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in the share 

options reserve within equity over the vesting period and taking into account the 

probability that the share options will vest. The fair value of share options is 

measured at grant date, taking into account, if any, the market vesting conditions 

upon which the share options were granted but excluding the impact of any non-

market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in 

assumptions about the number of share options that are expected to become 

exercisable on vesting date. 
 

At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of share 

options that are expected to become exercisable on vesting date. It recognises 

the impact of revision of original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, and a 

corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period.  

 

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are 

credited to equity when the share options are exercised. 

 

The amount attributable to exercised share options previously recognised in 

equity shall be transferred to share premium. Where share options have not been 

exercised by end of the option period and have expired, the amount attributable 

to these share options shall be transferred to retained earnings. 
 

3.19 Foreign Currencies 
 

(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company are presented in 

Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the Group and the Company operates (“the functional 

currency”). 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 

3.19 Foreign Currencies (Cont’d) 
 

(b) Foreign currency transactions and balances 

 

In preparing the financial statements of the Group, transactions in foreign 

currency other than the entity’s functional currency are recorded in the 

functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. At each reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the reporting date. Non-

monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 

are translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was 

determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 

a foreign currency are not translated. 

 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the 

translation of monetary items, are included in profit or loss for the period.  

 

3.20 Special Purpose Entities 

 
A special purpose entity (“SPE”) is consolidated when the substance of the relationship 

between an entity and the SPE indicates that the SPE is controlled by that entity. In this 

context, control arises through the predetermination of the activities of the SPE. 

 
An indication of control is evaluated by the risks of each party engaging in the 

transactions with the SPE. Frequently, the entity retains the residual or ownership risks 

in connection with the transactions and has the rights to the future economic benefits of 

the SPE. 

 

3.21 Share Capital and Share Issuance Expenses 

 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 

the Group and the Company after deducting all of its liabilities.  

 

Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable 

incremental transaction costs and classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are 

recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 

3.22 Contingencies 

 

A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past 

events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence 

of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the control of the Group. 

 

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial 

position of the Group.  

 

 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
 

4.1 Critical Judgements Made in Applying the Group’s Accounting Policies 
 

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 

3, management is of the opinion that there are no instances of application of judgement 

which are expected to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 

financial statements, except for those involving estimations which are dealt with in 

Note 4.2 below. 

 

4.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 

Management believes that there are no key assumptions made concerning the future, 

and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a 

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year except for the following: 

 

(a) Impairment of goodwill on consolidation 
 

The Group determines whether goodwill on consolidation is impaired at least on 

an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the subsidiary 

companies to which goodwill is allocated. Estimating a value-in-use amount 

requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows 

from the subsidiary companies and also to choose a suitable discount rate in 

order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 

 

 

 



   Company No. 2444 - M    

 
              

 44

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D) 
 

4.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Cont’d) 

 

(b) Impairment of loans and receivables 
 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective 

evidence that a financial asset is impaired based on the evaluation of 

collectibility and aging analysis of accounts and on management’s estimate. A 

considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate 

realisation of these receivables, including the creditworthiness and the past 

collection history of each customer.  

 

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of 

future cash flows are estimated based on historical loss experience for assets 

with similar credit risk characteristics. 

 

(c) Deferred tax assets 
 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses and unabsorbed 

capital allowances to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 

available against which the losses and capital allowances can be utilised. 

Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of 

deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level 

of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.  

 

(d) Fair value of borrowings  

 

The fair value of borrowings is estimated by discounting future contractual cash 

flows at the current market interest rates available to the Group for similar 

financial instruments. It is assumed that the effective interest rates approximate 

the current market interest rates available to the Group based on its size and its 

business risk. 
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5. REVENUE 

 

The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 
 RM  RM  RM RM 
      

Loan financing services:       

  Interest income * 256,511,776 206,726,154  - - 

  Commission income ** - 30,604,152  - - 

  Others 205,800 174,884  - - 

      

 256,717,576 237,505,190  - - 

Factoring and confirming  6,533,092 4,646,902  - - 

Dividend income from:      

  AFS financial assets  

-  Investment in REIT 

    (quoted in Malaysia) 6,073,695 3,156,890  - - 

  Subsidiary companies - -  2,700,000 21,021,246 

      

 6,073,695 3,156,890  2,700,000 21,021,246 

Rental income (Note 16) 261,222 251,302  - - 

Trading of securities - 10,051,091  - - 

Management fee from  

  a subsidiary company - -  7,615,159 7,611,349 

  

 269,585,585 255,611,375  10,315,159 28,632,595 

 

*  Comprises interest income from loan financing. 

** Comprises commission income from provision of financial administrative and 

debt management services. 
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6. INTEREST EXPENSE APPLICABLE TO REVENUE  

 

The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
        

Interest expense on:        

  ABS        35,120,072  24,773,314  -  - 

  Fixed rate MTNs 17,480,080  20,207,468  -  - 

  Term loans  11,763,108  9,869,719  3,052,000  3,052,000 

  Revolving credits 9,120,261  8,199,949  -  - 

  Bankers’ acceptances 485,319  404,461  -  - 

  Bank overdrafts 328,380  51,766  -  - 

  Trust receipts 269,814  235,432  -  - 

  Fixed rate serial bonds 

    and underwritten 

    commercial papers 46,688 

 

973,644  -  - 

        

 74,613,722  64,715,753  3,052,000  3,052,000 

 

 

7. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

 

The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

Directors of the Company:  
Non-executive directors     

  - Fees 240,000  225,000  240,000  225,000 

  - Other emoluments 50,000  44,000  50,000  44,000 

  - Share options granted 

       under ESOS -  1,616,428 

  

- 

  

1,616,428 

        

 290,000  1,885,428   290,000  1,885,428 

Executive directors        

  - Other emoluments 934,000  934,000  -  - 

  - Defined contributions 266,190  266,190  -  - 

  - Share options granted 

       under ESOS -  734,740 

  

- 

  

734,740 

        

 1,490,190  3,820,358  290,000  2,620,168 

Benefits-in-kind 475,895  425,904  -  20,505 

        

Total directors’  

  remuneration 1,966,085  4,246,262 

  

290,000 

  

2,640,673 
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7. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONT’D) 
 

The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the financial 

year fell within the following bands, are as follows: 

 

 Number of directors 

 2011  2010 

Non-executive directors:    
   RM50,000 and below 8  7 

   RM50,001 - RM100,000 -  1 
    

Executive directors:    

RM1,600,001 - RM1,650,000 -  1 

RM1,650,001 - RM1,700,000 1  - 
    

 9  9 

 

 

8. STAFF COSTS 

 

The Group The Company 
 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

Salaries 9,790,194  6,454,038  -  - 

Defined contributions 1,251,286  784,519  -  - 

Social security    

  contributions 64,063 

 

56,449  -  - 

Share options granted 

  under ESOS - 

 

4,204,146  -  275,528 

Others 1,120,454  834,894  -  - 

        

 12,225,997  12,334,046  -  275,528 

 

 

9. FINANCE COSTS 

 

The Group The Company 
 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
 

Interest expense on:     

  Hire-purchase payables 28,798 27,599 270 10,625 

  Finance lease payables 548 7,590 - - 

  Amount due to a  

    subsidiary company 

 

- 

 

- 123,451 - 
     

 29,346 35,189 123,721 10,625 
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10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX  

 
The following amounts have been included in arriving at profit before tax: 

 

The Group The Company 
 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
 

Investment income  10,431,601  4,734,460  2,968  11,934 

Bad debts recoveries 2,324,057  2,226,398  -  - 

Capital repayment from  

  investment in REIT 61,293 

 

-  -  - 

Gain on disposal of 

  plant and equipment 55,078 

 

185  -  - 

Realised gain on  

  foreign exchange, net 21,843 

 

9,204  -  - 

Write back for impairment 

loss in other investments - 

 

210 

  

- 

  

- 

Interest income on  

  amounts due from  

  subsidiary companies - 

 

-  5,121,671  4,003,350 

Gain on redemption of 

preference shares  - 

 

-  -  208,883,409 

Waiver of debt due to 

  subsidiary companies  

(Note 26) - 

 

-  -  100,002 

Allowance for impairment  

  loss on receivables, net (27,194,130) 

 

(27,842,359)  -  - 

Amortisation of  

  discount on MTNs (1,238,664) 

 

(2,238,898)  -  - 

Rental of:        
  Premises (713,532)  (721,282)  -  - 

  Motor vehicle (67,800)  (66,140)  -  - 

  Disaster recovery 

    centre (36,000) 
 

(36,000) 

  

- 

  

- 

  Warehouse (7,149)  (8,931)  -  - 

  Office equipment (13,800)  (13,800)  -  - 

Borrowings’ facility fees (555,467)  (824,740)  (148,000)  (148,000) 
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10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONT’D) 
 

The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
        

Auditors’ remuneration:        

  Statutory audit        

  - Current year (221,400)  (195,200)  (35,700)  (62,400) 

  - Under provision  

      in prior year (6,700) 

 

- 

  

(6,700) 

  

- 

  Non-statutory audit        
  - Current year (4,200)  (4,000)  (4,200)  (4,000) 

Loss on early  

  redemption of MTNs (210,500) 

 

(1,755,000)  -  - 

Allowance for   

  impairment loss in  

  investment properties (26,444) 

 

- 

  

 

- 

  

 

- 

Share options granted 

under ESOS - 

 

(6,555,314)  -  (2,626,696) 

Plant and equipment 

written off - 
 

(2,848)  -  - 

Investments in 

subsidiary companies 

written off - 

 

- 

  

 

- 

  

 

(21,336,802) 

 

 

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 

The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

Income tax payable:     

  Current year 14,239,972  17,472,769  2,985,084  2,488,205 

  Under provision in       

    prior years 426,357  1,561,905  55,385  82,791 
        

 14,666,329  19,034,674  3,040,469  2,570,996 

 

Deferred tax (Note 22):        

  Current year 20,404,483  9,860,286  (5,815)  (647,224) 

  Under provision in  

    prior year 771,398  -  656,675  - 
        

 21,175,881  9,860,286  650,860  (647,224) 
        

 35,842,210  28,894,960  3,691,329  1,923,772 
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D) 
 

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory 

income tax rate to income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and 

of the Company are as follows: 

 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
 

Profit before tax 140,098,751  109,989,195  11,775,854  213,901,236 

        

Tax at applicable statutory 

    tax rate of 25% (2010: 

    25%) 35,024,689 

 

27,497,297 

 

2,943,964 

 

53,475,309 

Tax effects of: 

  Expenses not deductible 

    for tax purposes   705,905 

 

1,328,093 

 

46,252 

 

5,425,134 

  Income not subject to tax (2,256,820) (258,260) (742) (57,054,149) 

Deferred tax assets not  

  recognised in respect of  

  current year’s tax losses  

  and unabsorbed capital  

  allowances 8,038,472 

 

189,764 

 

- 

 

- 

Deferred tax assets 

  recognised in respect of  

  current year’s tax losses,  

  unabsorbed capital  

  allowances, and loans  

  and receivables (9,217,964) (146,515) (10,205) (5,313) 

Realisation of deferred  

  tax assets not   

  recognised previously (22,720) (1,277,324) 

 

- 

 

- 

Realisation of deferred  

  tax assets recognised 2,372,893 - 

 

- 

 

- 

     

Tax at effective tax rate 34,644,455 27,333,055 2,979,269 1,840,981 

     

Under provision of  

  tax in prior years 426,357 

 

1,561,905 

 

55,385 

 

82,791 

Under provision of  

  deferred tax in prior year 771,398 

 

- 

 

656,675 

 

- 

       

Income tax charged to 

  profit or loss 35,842,210 

 

28,894,960 

 

3,691,329 

 

1,923,772 
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D) 
 

The Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) of 

the estimated taxable profits for the year of assessment 2011. The computation of 

deferred tax as at 31 March 2011 uses the same statutory tax rate. 

 

 

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

The Group is organised into business units based on their services and has three 

reportable operating segments as follows:  

 

(i) Loan financing segment 

 

 This segment engages in provision of general loan financing.  

 

(ii) Investment holding and management services 

 
This segment engages in investment activities and provision of management 

services. 

 

(iii) Factoring and confirming 

 

This segment engages in provision of factoring and confirming businesses.  

 

Allocation basis and transfer pricing 
 

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as 

well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise 

mainly corporate assets, liabilities and expenses.  

 

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner 

similar to transactions with third parties. Segment revenue, expense and results include 

transfers between operating segments. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.  

 

Geographical segment  
 

The Group operates substantially in Malaysia. Accordingly, no geographical segment 

information has been provided.  
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12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)  

 
The following tables provide segment information for the reportable segments: 

 

  Investment     

 Loan holding and Factoring Adjustments    

 financing management and and   

The Group services services confirming eliminations  Total 

2011 RM RM RM RM Notes RM 
 

Revenue         

External sales 256,511,776  6,540,717  6,533,092  -  269,585,585 

Inter-segment sales 720,000  13,005,159  -  (13,725,159) A - 

          

Total revenue 257,231,776  19,545,876  6,533,092  (13,725,159)  269,585,585 

          

Results          

Interest income from deposits 

with licensed financial 

institutions 

 

 

10,423,264 

  

 

2,968 

  

 

5,369 

  

 

- 

 

10,431,601 

Depreciation and amortisation 1,761,368  730,849  124,985  -  2,617,202 

Other non-cash expenses 26,595,698  26,444  598,432  - B 27,220,574 

Segment profit/(loss) 136,510,595  511,767  3,105,735  (29,346) C 140,098,751 

          

Statements of  

  Financial Position  

     

 

  

 

Capital additions 560,835  447,251  264,694  - D 1,272,780 

Segment assets 1,667,264,017  65,834,473  40,162,849  -  1,773,261,339 

          

Segment liabilities 1,246,298,472  53,097,633  25,159,905  323,675 E 1,324,879,685 



   Company No. 2444 - M    

 
              

 53

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)  

 

  Investment      

 Loan holding and Factoring  Adjustments    

 financing management and  and   

The Group services services confirming Others eliminations  Total 

2010 RM RM RM RM RM Notes RM 

 

Revenue           

External sales 237,323,725  13,640,748  4,646,902  -  -  255,611,375 

Inter-segment sales 9,802,386  31,372,595  -  -  (41,174,981) A - 

            

Total revenue 247,126,111  45,013,343  4,646,902  -  (41,174,981)  255,611,375 

            

Results            

Interest income from deposits 

with licensed financial 

institutions 

 

 

4,714,801 

  

 

11,934 

  

 

7,725 

  

 

- 

  

 

- 

 

4,734,460 

Depreciation and amortisation 2,798,013  726,970  130,586  -  -  3,655,569 

Other non-cash expenses 26,717,792           (210)  1,127,415  -  - B 27,844,997 

Segment profit/(loss) 114,151,508  (4,812,851)  684,969  758  (35,189) C 109,989,195 

            

Statements of  

  Financial Position  

       

 

  

Capital additions 232,762  447,086  1,653  -  - D 681,501 

Segment assets 1,434,887,558  63,645,081  40,174,283  -  -  1,538,706,922 

            

Segment liabilities 1,048,795,451  49,022,506  19,785,407  -  2,241,221 E 1,119,844,585 
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12. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)  
  

 Notes  Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the 

consolidated financial statements. 

  

  A Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation. 

   

 B  Other material non-cash expenses consists of the following items as presented 

in Note 10:  

 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Write back for impairment loss in other 

investments - 

 

(210) 

Allowance for impairment loss on  

   receivables, net  27,194,130 

 

27,842,359 

Allowance for impairment loss in  

   investment properties 26,444 

 

- 

Plant and equipment written off  - 2,848 

   

 27,220,574 27,844,997 

 

 C  The following items are added to/(deducted) from segment profit to arrive at 

“profit before tax” presented in the statements of comprehensive income:   

 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Finance costs (29,346) (35,189) 

 

 D  Capital additions consists of: 

 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Plant and equipment (Note 15) 1,272,780 681,501 

 

 E  The following items are added to/(deducted) from segment liabilities to arrive 

at total liabilities presented in the statements of financial position:   

 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Unallocated corporate liabilities 323,675 2,241,221 
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13. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE (“EPS”) 

  

(a)  Basic EPS 

 
 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Profit for the financial year attributable to 

  equity holders of the Company 104,256,541 

 

81,094,235 

 

Weighted average number of ordinary 

  shares in issue: 
   

  Balance as at beginning of financial year 782,068,474  710,971,340 

  Effects of private placement of shares -  45,580,080 

  Effects of issuance of shares pursuant to ESOS  

   exercised  

 

290,002 

  

- 
      

  Balance as at end of financial year 782,358,476  756,551,420 

    

EPS (sen) 13.33  10.72 

 

The basic EPS of the Group are calculated by dividing the profit for the financial 

year attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year. 

 

 (b)  Diluted EPS 

 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

 

Profit for the financial year attributable to equity  

  holders of the Company 104,256,541 

 

81,094,235 

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 

issue 

 

782,358,476 

  

756,551,420 

Effects of dilution -  1,952,729 

      

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary 

shares in issue 

 

782,358,476 

  

758,504,149 

    

Diluted EPS (sen) 13.33  10.69 

 

The diluted EPS of the Group are calculated by dividing the profit for the 

financial year attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares adjusted for dilutive effects of the share 

options granted to its eligible directors and employees of the Group. 
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14.       DIVIDENDS 
 

 Dividends in respect  

of financial year 

Dividends recognised 

in financial year 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Recognised during the    

  financial year: 

       

Final dividend for 2009: 

10% less tax of 25%, 

on 782,068,474 ordinary 

shares, paid on  

18 September 2009 - 

 

- 

 

- 

 

5,865,517 

        

Final dividend for 2010: 

9% less tax of 25% 

and 8.5% under single-tier 

system, tax exempt on 

782,395,174 ordinary 

shares, paid on 28 

September 2010  - 

 

11,931,526 

 

11,931,526 

 

- 

        

Proposed for approval at 

 AGM (not recognised  

 as at 31 March): 

       

Final dividend for 2011: 

  15% on 782,395,174 

ordinary shares 11,735,928 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

        

 11,735,928  11,931,526  11,931,526     5,865,517 

 

At the forthcoming AGM, a final single-tier dividend in respect of the financial year 

ended 31 March 2011 of 15% on 782,395,174 ordinary shares amounting to 

RM11,735,928 will be proposed for shareholders’ approval.  

 

The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed 

dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in 

equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 March 

2012. 
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15.  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 

 

 

 

The Group 

 

Office 

equipment, 

furniture 

and fittings 

 

 

Computers 

and IT 

equipment 

Computers 

and IT 

equipment 

under  

finance lease 

 

 

 

Motor 

vehicles 

 

Motor 

vehicles 

under hire- 

purchase 

Office 

renovation 

 

 

 

 

Total 

 RM RM RM RM RM RM RM 
 

Cost             

Balance as at 1 April 2009 1,076,133  3,103,916  619,136  237,785  1,380,865  597,887  7,015,722 

Additions 70,984  431,193  -  4,154  144,519  30,651  681,501 

Disposals -  (49,467)  -  -  -  -  (49,467) 

Write-off -  -  -  (3,974)  -  -  (3,974) 

Reclassification -  163,933  (163,933)  -  -  -  - 

             

Balance as at 31 March 2010 1,147,117  3,649,575  455,203  237,965  1,525,384  628,538  7,643,782 

Additions 78,270  449,626  -  -  744,884  -  1,272,780 

Disposals -  -  -  -  (824,717)  -  (824,717) 

Reclassification -  455,203  (455,203)  238,824  (238,824)  -  - 

             

Balance as at 31 March 2011 1,225,387  4,554,404  -  476,789  1,206,727  628,538  8,091,845 
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15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D) 
 
 

 

 

 

 

The Group 

 

Office 

equipment, 

furniture 

and fittings 

 

 

Computers 

and IT 

equipment 

Computers 

 and IT 

equipment 

under  

finance lease 

 

 

 

Motor 

vehicles 

 

Motor 

vehicles 

under hire- 

purchase 

 

 

Office 

renovation 

 

 

 

 

Total 

 RM RM RM RM RM RM RM 

 

Accumulated depreciation              

Balance as at 1 April 2009 396,416  1,709,318  360,762  157,014  539,556  107,607  3,270,673 

Charge for the financial year 178,245  583,786  146,264  47,125  278,988  122,333  1,356,741 

Disposals -  (28,328) -  -  -  -  (28,328) 

Write-off -  -  -  (1,126)  -  -       (1,126) 

Reclassification -  163,931  (163,931)  -  -  -  - 

              

Balance as at 31 March 2010 574,661  2,428,707  343,095  203,013  818,544  229,940  4,597,960 

Charge for the financial year 190,652  637,015  93,240  28,353  245,253  124,095  1,318,608 

Disposals -  -  -  -  (503,987)  -  (503,987) 

Reclassification -  436,335  (436,335)  192,463  (192,463)  -  - 

              

Balance as at 31 March 2011 765,313  3,502,057  -  423,829  367,347  354,035  5,412,581 

              

Carrying amount              

Balance as at 31 March 2010 572,456  1,220,868  112,108  34,952  706,840  398,598  3,045,822 

              

Balance as at 31 March 2011 460,074  1,052,347  -  52,960  839,380  274,503  2,679,264 
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15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D) 
 

 

 

 

The Company 

 

 

Office 

equipment 

 

 

Motor 

vehicles 

Motor 

vehicle 

under hire-

purchase 

 

 

 

Total 

 RM RM RM RM 

 

Cost        

Balance as at 1 April 2009/2010  36,328  -  95,470  131,798 

Reclassification -  95,470  (95,470)  - 

        

Balance as at 31 March 2011 36,328  95,470  -  131,798 

        

Accumulated depreciation        

Balance as at 1 April 2009 36,328  -  27,984  64,312 

Charge for the financial year -  -  10,494  10,494 

        

Balance as at 31 March 2010 36,328  -  38,478  74,806 

Charge for the financial year -  -  10,494  10,494 

Reclassification  -  48,972  (48,972)  - 

        

Balance as at 31 March 2011 36,328  48,972  -  85,300 

        

Carrying amount        

Balance as at 31 March 2010 -  -  56,992  56,992 

        

Balance as at 31 March 2011 -  46,498  -  46,498 

 

During the financial year, the Group acquired plant and equipment at an aggregate cost 

of RM1,272,780 (2010: RM681,501) as follows: 

 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Acquired via:   

  Cash payments 691,280 549,848 

  Hire-purchase arrangements 581,500 130,000 

  Payables - 1,653 

   

 1,272,780 681,501 
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 

   The Group 

   Leasehold 

buildings 

   RM 

 

Cost    

Balance as at 31 March 2010/2011   3,027,390 

 

Accumulated depreciation    

Balance as at 1 April 2009   181,294 

Charge for the financial year   59,930 

    

Balance as at 1 April 2010   241,224 

Charge for the financial year   59,930 

    

Balance as at 31 March 2011   301,154 

 

Accumulated impairment losses    

Balance as at 1 April 2009/2010   - 

Charge for the financial year   26,444 

    

Balance as at 31 March 2011   26,444 

 

Carrying amount    

Balance as at 31 March 2010   2,786,166 

    

Balance as at 31 March 2011   2,699,792 

 

Fair value    

Balance as at 31 March 2010/2011   3,600,000 

 

 The strata titles pertaining to:  

 

(i) the leasehold building under RCE Equity Sdn. Bhd. has been issued in the 

previous financial year. The application for consent to transfer from 

Melawangi Sdn. Bhd., a related party is in progress; and 

 

(ii) the leasehold building under Mezzanine Enterprise Sdn. Bhd. will not be 

issued by the relevant authority as it is owned by the Land Office. 

 

The property rental income from the investment properties, which are under operating 

leases, amounted to RM261,222 (2010: RM251,302). Direct operating expenses 

arising from the investment properties during the financial year amounted to 

RM92,049 (2010: RM76,536). 
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 
                     The Company 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

    

Unquoted shares, at cost 326,930,043  326,930,043 

Less: Allowance for impairment (214,643)  (214,643) 

 326,715,400  326,715,400 

Add: Equity contribution to subsidiary companies 

pursuant to ESOS (Note 38) 

 

3,350,010 

  

3,928,618 

    

 330,065,410  330,644,018 

 

The details of the subsidiary companies, all incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows: 

 

 

 
Effective 

Equity Interest 

 

 2011 2010 Principal Activities 

   % %  
    

Direct subsidiary companies    
    

Effusion.Com Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Provision of information  

technology 
    

RCE Enterprise Sdn. Bhd.   - 

 

- De-registered from the 

Companies Commission of 

Malaysia 
    

RCE Resources Sdn. Bhd.    - - De-registered from the 

Companies Commission of 

Malaysia 
    

RCE Factoring Sdn. Bhd.  

   

100 100 Confirming and factoring, 

specialising in trade related 

activities and general 

trading 
    

RCE Marketing Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Provision of general loan 

financing services  
    

RCE Synergy Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Investment holding 
    

Indirect subsidiary companies    
    

RCE Equity Sdn. Bhd. 
π
 

   

100 100 Property investment,   

provision of financial 

administrative services, 

debt management services 

and trading of securities 
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D) 
 

 

 
Effective 

Equity Interest 

 

 2011 2010 Principal Activities 

   % %  

    

Indirect subsidiary companies    

    

RCE Advance Sdn. Bhd. 
π
  

   

100 100 A special purpose vehicle  

established to acquire a 

pool of eligible receivables 

from its immediate holding 

company and to issue 

private debt securities to 

fund the purchase of such 

receivables 
    

RCE Commerce Sdn. Bhd.
 π

  100 100 Provision of information 

technology and financial 

administrative services 
 

RCE Premier Sdn. Bhd. 
π
 100 100 A special purpose vehicle 

established to acquire a 

pool of eligible receivables 

from its immediate holding 

company and to issue 

private debt securities to 

fund the purchase of such 

receivables 
    

RCE Sales Sdn. Bhd. 
β
 100 100 Provision of financial 

administrative services 
    

RCE Trading Sdn. Bhd. 
π
 100 100 Provision of financial 

administrative services 
    

Tresor Assets Berhad 
π
 100 100 A special purpose vehicle 

established to acquire a 

pool of eligible receivables 

from its immediate holding 

company and to issue ABS 

to fund the purchase of such 

receivables 
    

Mezzanine Enterprise Sdn. Bhd. * 100 100 Property investment, 

provision of financial 

administrative services  
 

π 
Held indirectly through RCE Marketing Sdn. Bhd.  

β 
Held indirectly through RCE Trading Sdn. Bhd.  

*
 Held indirectly through RCE Equity Sdn. Bhd.  
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18. GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION 

 
 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Goodwill on consolidation, at cost 28,854,804  28,854,804 

Less: Accumulated amortisation  (177,829)  (177,829) 

    

Carrying amount 28,676,975  28,676,975 

 

Allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units 
 

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-

generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from the business combination, 

as follows: 

 

(i) Loan financing operations of RCE Marketing Sdn. Bhd. (“RCEM”) and its 

subsidiary companies (“RCEM Group”) as a group CGU;  

 

(ii) Investment holding operations of RCE Synergy Sdn. Bhd. as an individual 

CGU; and 

 

(iii) Factoring and confirming operations of RCE Factoring Sdn. Bhd. as an 

individual CGU. 

 

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each CGU is as follows: 

 
 The Group 
 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

 

Loan financing  19,002,200  19,002,200 

Investment holding  9,341,621  9,341,621 

Factoring and confirming  333,154  333,154 

    

 28,676,975  28,676,975 

 
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are 

indications that goodwill might be impaired. 
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18. GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION (CONT’D) 

 

Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations 

 

The recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-use calculation, 

which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by 

management. The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation include quantum 

of loan disbursements, which is based on RCEM Group’s past performance and 

management’s expectation on the growth in loans demand and the availability of 

funds from the issuance of debts securities by RCEM Group. The discount rate 

applied to the cash flow projections is 6.55% (2010: 6.57%) per annum.  

 

 

19. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 
 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Loans and receivables 2,286,951,290 2,311,442,112 

Less: Unearned interest income (1,090,513,452) (1,107,134,414) 

   

 1,196,437,838 1,204,307,698 

Less: Allowance for impairment (110,683,458) (65,699,710) 

   

Loans and receivables, net 1,085,754,380 1,138,607,988 

Amount receivable within one year (112,590,590) (146,080,924) 

   

Non-current portion 973,163,790 992,527,064 

 

 The non-current portion of the loans and receivables is as follows: 

 

 The Group 
 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Amount receivables:   

    Within one to two years 69,098,837 85,843,572 

    Within two to five years 229,955,862 302,507,210 

    After five years 674,109,091 604,176,282 

   

 973,163,790 992,527,064 
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19. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES (CONT’D) 
 

Loans and receivables which arose from the provision of loan financing to the 

members of Koperasi Sejati Berhad, Koperasi Belia Nasional Berhad, Koperasi 

Wawasan Pekerja-Pekerja Berhad and Koperasi Perdana Nasional Malaysia Berhad 

(collectively referred to as “the Cooperatives”), are governed under Revolving Loan 

Facility Agreement, Assignment Agreement and the Power of Attorney (collectively 

referred to as “Security Agreements”) between the Cooperatives and the Group.  

 

The loans and receivables are repayable over a maximum period of twenty (20) 

(2010: fifteen (15)) years. The information on the financial risk of loans and 

receivables are disclosed in Note 36.  

 

The loans and receivables of the Group of RM309,860,886 (2010: RM265,367,464) 

are pledged to financial institutions as securities for borrowings as disclosed in                  

Notes 31(d) and 31(e) respectively. 

 

The profile of the loans and receivables is as follows: 

 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Performing 328,863,186  152,898,569 

1 to 150 days past due but performing 747,307,377  974,792,679 

Non-performing 120,267,275  76,616,450 

    

 1,196,437,838  1,204,307,698 

  

Movement in allowance accounts: 

 

 The Group 
 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

    
Balance as at 1 April 65,699,710  71,072,819 

Effects of adopting FRS 139 20,700,273           - 

    

Restated as at 1 April 86,399,983  71,072,819 

Charge for the financial year 26,595,698  26,714,944 

Written off (2,312,223)  (32,088,053) 

   

 Balance as at 31 March 110,683,458  65,699,710 
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19. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES (CONT’D) 
 

The allowance accounts consist of: 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

 

Performing loans 40,012,392  14,160,069 

Non-performing loans 70,671,066  51,539,641 

    

 110,683,458  65,699,710 

 

 Loans and receivables that are performing 

 

Loans and receivables that are performing are neither past due nor impaired, were 

newly disbursed and/or having months-in-arrear less than a month. 

 

None of these have been renegotiated during the financial year. 

 

Loans and receivables that are past due but performing 

 

All loans and receivables that are past due but performing are loans that are under the 

salary deduction scheme and subject to administrative delay due to logistic 

considerations. 

 
Loans and receivables that are non-performing 

 

The Group’s loans and receivables that are non-performing at the reporting date are as 

follows: 

 

 The Group 

Collectively impaired 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

 

Loans and receivables, non-performing 120,267,275 76,616,450 

Less: Allowance for impairment (70,671,066) (51,539,641)

   

 49,596,209 25,076,809 
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20. OTHER INVESTMENTS 

 
 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011            2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
 

Investments, at cost:      

  REIT quoted in Malaysia - 33,763,526  - - 

  Association memberships 2 2  2 2 

      

 2 33,763,528  2 2 

Less: Accumulated 

impairment losses - (3,376,353)  - - 

      

 2 30,387,175  2 2 

 
Market value of REIT  

  quoted in Malaysia - 37,139,879  - - 

 
Investment in REIT has been pledged as securities for borrowings granted to the 

Group as disclosed in Note 31(d). It has also been reclassified as AFS financial assets 

as disclosed in Note 21. 

 

 

21. AFS FINANCIAL ASSETS  

 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

 

Non-current   

REIT quoted in Malaysia, at fair value 39,165,690 - 

 

Current   

Unquoted corporate bonds, at cost 4,000,000 - 

Less: Accumulated impairment losses (4,000,000) - 
   

 - - 

 

Investment in REIT has been pledged as securities for borrowings granted to the 

Group as disclosed in Note 31(d). 

 
The unquoted corporate bonds are unsecured and have no fixed coupon rate. Coupon 

rates will be determined semi-annually depending on the performance of the bonds.  

 

In the previous financial year, unquoted corporate bonds were classified as short term 

investments as disclosed in Note 23. 
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21. AFS FINANCIAL ASSETS  (CONT’D) 

 
During the current financial year, there was no coupon payment received in respect of 

the unquoted corporate bonds.  

 

 

22. DEFERRED TAX 

 

(a) The deferred tax assets and liabilities are made up of the following: 
 

 The Group The Company 

 2011 2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

Balance as at  

  1 April (21,056,606) (11,196,320)  643,247 (3,977) 

Effects of adopting  

  FRS 139 23,598,234 -  -  - 

       

Restated as at  

  1 April  2,541,628 (11,196,320)  643,247  (3,977) 

Recognised in 

  profit or loss 

  (Note 11) (21,175,881) (9,860,286)  (650,860)  647,224 

       

Balance as at  

  31 March (18,634,253) (21,056,606)  (7,613)  643,247 

 

Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows: 
 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
 

Deferred tax assets 33,783,308  5,371,847  -  656,675 

Deferred tax  

  liabilities (52,417,561) (26,428,453)  (7,613)  (13,428) 

        

 (18,634,253) (21,056,606)  (7,613)  643,247 

 



   Company No. 2444 - M    

 
              

69 

22. DEFERRED TAX (CONT’D) 
 

(b) The components and movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial year prior to offsetting are as follows: 
 

Deferred tax assets of the Group: 
 

 

 

     Unused tax   
     losses and   

     unabsorbed Other  
 Loans and 

receivables 

  

Payables 

 capital 

allowances 

temporary 

differences 

  

Total 

 RM  RM  RM RM  RM 

        

Balance as at 1 April 2009 2,730,710  -  38,388                    - 2,769,098 

Recognised in profit or loss  988,067  -  (24,146) 1,638,828 2,602,749 

         

Balance as at 31 March 2010 3,718,777  -  14,242 1,638,828 5,371,847 

        

Balance as at 1 April 2010 3,718,777  -  14,242 1,638,828   5,371,847 

Effects of adopting FRS 139 10,551,706  7,757,796  - 5,302,715 23,612,217 

        

Restated as at 1 April 2010 14,270,483  7,757,796  14,242 6,941,543 28,984,064 

Recognised in profit or loss 5,608,879  -  (8,309)  (801,326) 4,799,244 

        

Balance as at 31 March 2011 19,879,362  7,757,796  5,933 6,140,217 33,783,308 
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22. DEFERRED TAX (CONT’D) 

 

Deferred tax assets of the Company: 
 

 Other 

temporary 

differences 

  

 

Total 
 RM  RM 

 

Balance as at 1 April 2009 - - 

Recognised in profit or loss 656,675 656,675 
   

Balance as at 31 March 2010 656,675 656,675 

 

Balance as at 1 April 2010 656,675 656,675 

Recognised in profit or loss (656,675) (656,675) 
   

Balance as at 31 March 2011 - - 

 

Deferred tax liabilities of the Group: 
 

     Other   
 Plant and 

equipment 

 Loans and 

receivables 

 temporary 

differences 

  

Total 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
 

Balance as at  

  1 April 2009 

 

(438,396) 

 

- 

  

(13,527,022) 

 

(13,965,418) 

Recognised in  

  profit or loss 

 

119,456 

 

- 

  

(12,582,491) 

 

(12,463,035) 
      

Balance as at  

  31 March 2010 

 

(318,940) 

 

- 

  

(26,109,513) 

 

(26,428,453) 
 

Balance as at  

  1 April 2010                 

 

(318,940) 

  

- 

 

(26,109,513) 

  

(26,428,453) 

Effects of adopting  

  FRS 139 

 

- 

  

(13,983) 

 

- 

  

(13,983) 
       

Restated as at  

  1 April 2010 

 

(318,940) 

  

(13,983) 

 

(26,109,513) 

  

(26,442,436) 

Recognised in  

  profit or loss 

 

48,814 

  

- 

 

(26,023,939) 

  

(25,975,125) 
       

Balance as at  

  31 March 2011 

 

(270,126) 

  

(13,983) 

 

(52,133,452) 

  

(52,417,561) 

 

Other temporary differences are mainly arising from deferred tax liabilities 

recognised on interest receivable on AFS financial assets by a subsidiary 

company.   



   Company No. 2444 - M    

 
              

71 

22. DEFERRED TAX (CONT’D) 

 

Deferred tax liabilities of the Company: 

 
 Plant and 

equipment 

  

Total 

 RM  RM 

 

Balance as at 1 April 2009 (3,977) (3,977) 

Recognised in profit or loss  (9,451) (9,451) 

   

Balance as at 31 March 2010 (13,428) (13,428) 

 

Balance as at 1 April 2010 (13,428) (13,428) 

Recognised in profit or loss  5,815 5,815 

   

Balance as at 31 March 2011 (7,613) (7,613) 

 
(c) The amount of unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances for which 

no deferred tax assets are recognised in the statements of financial position, 

are as follows: 

 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Unused tax losses 82,283,312 50,229,814 

Unabsorbed capital allowances 4,182,629 4,173,116 

   

 86,465,941 54,402,930 

 

 

23. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS 

 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

 
   

Unquoted corporate bonds, at cost - 8,000,000 

Less: Accumulated impairment losses - (4,000,000) 
   

 - 4,000,000 

 

The unquoted corporate bonds are unsecured and have no fixed coupon rate. Coupon 

rates will be determined semi-annually depending on the performance of the bonds.  
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23. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS (CONT’D) 
 

In the previous financial year, there was no coupon payment received in respect of the 

unquoted corporate bonds.  

 

 Unquoted corporate bonds have been reclassified as AFS financial assets as disclosed 

in Note 21.  
 

 

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 
 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Factoring receivables  26,871,350 23,706,741 

Confirming receivables 14,321,330 12,205,962 

IT support services fee receivable - 16,538 
   

 41,192,680 35,929,241 

Less: Allowance for impairment (3,778,460) (5,139,710) 
   

Trade receivables, net 37,414,220 30,789,531 

 

The credit period granted by the Group ranges from 60 to 150 (2010: 30 to 150) days 

while other credit terms are determined on a case by case basis. The effective interest 

rate is at 12.06% (2010: 12.19%) per annum. 

  

As at the reporting date, there are significant concentration of credit risk arising from 

the amounts due from six (6) (2010: five (5)) major customers amounting to 54.46% 

(2010: 59.38%) of the total factoring and confirming receivables. The extension of 

credits to and the repayments from these customers are closely monitored by the 

management to ensure that these customers adhere to the agreed credit terms and 

policies. 
 

Movement in allowance accounts: 
 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Balance as at 1 April 5,139,710 4,012,295 

Effects of adopting FRS 139 1,269,560 - 
   

Restated as at 1 April 6,409,270 4,012,295 

Charge for the financial year 1,067,463 3,067,013 

Written back (469,031) (1,939,598) 

Written off (3,229,242) - 
   

Balance as at 31 March 3,778,460 5,139,710 
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D) 
 

 The ageing of the trade receivables is as follows: 

 

 The Group 
 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

 

Performing 22,698,101 14,722,642 

Past due but performing:   

  Less than 180 days  9,504,722 8,221,564 

  More than 180 days 4,999,397 5,013,765 

   

Total past due but performing 14,504,119 13,235,329 

Non-performing 3,990,460 7,971,270 

   

 41,192,680 35,929,241 

 

Trade receivables that are performing 

 

Trade receivables that are performing are neither past due nor impaired, are 

creditworthy debtors with good payment records with the Group and there are no 

indications as of the reporting date that the debtors will not meet their payment 

obligations.  

 

None of these have been renegotiated during the financial year. 

 

Trade receivables that are past due but performing 

 

Trade receivables that are less than 180 days past due at the reporting date are 

performing as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 

amounts are still considered recoverable.  

 

Trade receivables that are more than 180 days past due but performing are those with 

repayment plan and/or collateral with the Group. Their repayments are closely 

monitored by the management to ensure that there adhere to the agreed repayment 

schedule. 

 

Overdue accounts are regularly reviewed and impairment provisions are created 

where necessary. As a matter of policy, all trade receivables that are more than 180 

days past due are fully provided except those approved by management and with due 

regard to the historical risk profile of the customer.   

 

Trade receivables that are non-performing 

 

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date 

relate to debtors that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on 

payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements. 
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D) 
 

The Group’s trade receivables that are non-performing at the reporting date are as 

follows: 

  

 Individually impaired 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Trade receivables, non-performing 3,990,460 7,971,270 

Less: Allowance for impairment (3,778,460) (4,561,687) 

   

 212,000 3,409,583 

 

 

25. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAID EXPENSES 

 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011            2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

Other receivables 15,454,414 2,413,502  54,071 54,071 

Less: Allowance for  

          impairment (54,071) (54,071)  (54,071) (54,071) 
      

 15,400,343 2,359,431  - - 

Tax recoverable 11,925,432 1,706,468  181,641 1,095,373 

Prepaid expenses 970,131 982,791  33,794 35,881 

Refundable deposits   253,681 281,797  - - 
      

 28,549,587 5,330,487  215,435 1,131,254 

 
Included in other receivables of the Group are collections in transit from various co-

operatives of RM15,237,985 (2010: RM2,202,664). 

 

As at the reporting date, the Group and the Company have provided an allowance for 

impairment of RM54,071. There has been no movement in this allowance account for 

the financial years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 respectively. 
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
The outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at the reporting 

date are as below: 

 

 The Company 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 
 

Amounts due from subsidiary companies 72,503,588  69,050,117 

   

Amount due to a subsidiary company 5,518,541 - 

 

The amounts due from/(to) subsidiary companies are unsecured, bear interest rates 

ranging from 7.30% to 7.63% (2010: 7.63%) per annum, repayable on demand and to 

be settled in cash, except otherwise stated. 

 

(a) Identities of related parties 

 

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, 

directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over 

the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where 

the Group and the party are subject to common control or common significant 

influence. Related parties may be individuals or other parties. 

 

The Company has controlling related party relationship with its direct and 

indirect subsidiary companies. 
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D) 
 

(b) Related party disclosures 

 

 Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the related 

 parties and their relationships with the Company are as follows: 

 

Name of related parties Relationship  
  

Amcorp Auto Sdn. Bhd. (formerly 

  known as Azumoto Sdn. Bhd.) 

  (“AASB”) 

Corporateview Sdn. Bhd. (“CVSB”) 

Fulcrum Capital Sdn. Bhd. (“FCSB”)  

Harpers Travel (Malaysia) Sdn. 

  Berhad (“HTSB”) 

Distrepark Sdn. Bhd. (“Distrepark”) 

Arab-Malaysian (CSL) Sdn. Bhd.          

  (“AMSB”) 

Subsidiary companies of  

  Amcorp Group Berhad, a substantial  

  shareholder of the Company 

  

Triple Esteem Sdn. Bhd. 

  (“TESB”) 

 

A company in which the wife of a  

  director of the Company is a  

  controlling shareholder 
  

AmLife Insurance Berhad (formerly 

  known as AmAssurance Berhad)  

  (“ALIB”) 

AmG Insurance Berhad (“AIB”) 

AmInvestment Bank Berhad  

  (“AIBB”) 

AmInvestment Services Berhad  

  (“AISB”) 

 

Companies in which a director of the  

  Company has substantial financial  

  interest 
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D) 
 

(b) Related party disclosures (Cont’d) 

 
During the financial year, significant related party transactions, which are 

 determined on a basis negotiated between the said parties, are as follows: 

 

 The Company 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

   

Direct subsidiary companies:   

   

Management fees receivable from  

  RCE Marketing Sdn. Bhd. 

 

7,615,159  

 

7,611,349 

   

Interest income on amounts due from:    

  RCE Marketing Sdn. Bhd. 5,026,537  3,752,649 

  RCE Factoring Sdn. Bhd. 19,819  51,874 

  RCE Synergy Sdn. Bhd. (net of interest  

  expense RMnil (2010: RM8,742)) -  190,085 

    
Dividend receivable from:    

  RCE Marketing Sdn. Bhd. 2,700,000  1,800,000 

  RCE Resources Sdn. Bhd. -  19,221,246 

    

Gain on redemption of preference shares from 

  RCE Enterprise Sdn. Bhd. 

 

-  

 

208,883,409 

    

Waiver of debts due to:   

  RCE Enterprise Sdn. Bhd. -  100,000 

  RCE Resources Sdn. Bhd. -  2 

    

Interest expense on amount due to:   

  RCE Synergy Sdn. Bhd. (net of interest  

   income of RM75,315 (2010: RMnil)) (48,136) - 
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D) 

 

(b) Related party disclosures (Cont’d) 

 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

  

Other related parties:  
   

Arranger fee payable to AIBB 2,257,008 2,518,205 
   

Service charges payable to AIBB 607,251 79,569 
   

Rental payable to:   

  ALIB 617,136 617,136 

  TESB 99,996 99,996 

  AMSB 67,800 58,869 

  CVSB  36,000 36,000 

  Distrepark - 7,271 
   

Staff costs payable to CVSB 490,000 490,000 
   

Marketing expenses incurred arising from:   

  Purchase of motor vehicle from AASB 328,776 - 

  Purchase of travel package from HTSB 282,009 276,793 
   

Motor vehicle purchase from AASB 246,132 - 
   

Air tickets purchase from HTSB 225,450 3,888 
   

Insurance premium payable to ALIB 247,803 199,941 
   

Administrative fee payable to AISB 193,843 171,958 
   

Internal audit fees payable to CVSB 110,000 110,000 
   

 

 

(c) Compensation of key management personnel 
 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
        

Short term         

  employees’ benefits 3,623,645  3,076,621  290,000  289,505 

Defined contribution         

  plan 518,862  453,444  -  - 

Share options         

  granted under ESOS -  3,356,292  -  2,626,695 

        

 4,142,507  6,886,357  290,000  2,916,200 
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D) 

 

(c) Compensation of key management personnel (Cont’d) 
 

Executive director of the Group and of the Company have been granted the 

following number of share options under the ESOS: 

 
 Number of share options 

 2011  2010 
    

Balance as at 31 March -  2,000,000 

 
The share options were granted on the same terms and conditions as those 

offered to other eligible directors and employees of the Group as disclosed in 

Note 38. 

 

 

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
      

Deposits with licensed 

financial institutions 512,150,091 270,935,391 

  

81,920 

 

66,058 

Cash and bank 

balances 2,388,030 18,775,540 

  

1,668 

 

5,579 

      

 514,538,121 289,710,931  83,588 71,637 

 

Included in the above cash and cash equivalents of the Group are deposits and cash 

and bank balances assigned in favour of the trustees and pledged to licensed financial 

institutions as follows: 

 

 The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

    

Assigned in favour of the trustees 493,087,010  255,646,049  

Pledged to licensed financial institutions 10,370,205      9,464,081 

    

 503,457,215  265,110,130 

 

Deposits with licensed financial institutions of the Group have a weighted average 

remaining maturity period of 23 (2010: 18) days. The information on weighted 

average effective interest rate is disclosed in Note 36. 
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

The Group and 

The Company 
 2011  2010 
 RM  RM 

Authorised:    

Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each       

  Balance as at 1 April/31 March 200,000,000  200,000,000 

    

Issued and fully paid:    

Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each        

  Balance as at 1 April 78,206,847  71,097,134 

  Issued during the financial year:    

    Exercise of ESOS (Note 38) 32,670  - 

    Private placement -  7,109,713 

    

  Balance as at 31 March 78,239,517  78,206,847 
 

a) The Company has an ESOS under which options to subscribe for the Company’s     

ordinary shares have been granted to the directors and employees of the Group as 

disclosed in Note 38. 

 

During the financial year, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company 

was increased from RM78,206,847 to RM78,239,517 by way of the issuance of 

326,700 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each pursuant to the ESOS at an exercise 

price of RM0.59 per ordinary share for cash. 

 

b) In the previous financial year, the issued and paid-up share capital of the 

Company was increased from RM71,097,134 to RM78,206,847 by way of the 

issuance of 71,097,134 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each through a private 

placement exercise at an issue price of RM0.5503 per ordinary share for cash, for 

additional working capital purposes. 

 

c) The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when              

declared by the Company and are entitled to one vote per ordinary share at 

meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank pari passu with regard to the 

Company’s residual assets.  
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29. RESERVES 

 
 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
 

Non-distributable:     

  Share premium 58,584,019 58,303,917 58,584,019  58,303,917 

  Share options 5,976,706 6,555,314 5,976,706 6,555,314 

  AFS 8,778,517 - - - 
     

 73,339,242 64,859,231 64,560,725 64,859,231 

Distributable:     

  Retained earnings 296,802,895 275,796,259 213,782,366 217,629,367 
     

 370,142,137 340,655,490 278,343,091 282,488,598 

 

(a) Non-distributable: 

 
(i) Share premium arose from the following:  

 

 The Group and 

The Company 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

 

Balance as at 1 April 58,303,917  26,393,874 

Issuance of share pursuant to ESOS 

exercised (Note 28) 

 

280,102 

  

- 

Private placement of 71,097,134 

  new  ordinary shares of RM0.10 

  each at a premium of RM0.4503 

  per share (Note 28) 

 

 

 

- 

  

 

 

32,015,039 

Shares issue expenses -  (104,996) 
    

Balance as at 31 March 58,584,019  58,303,917 

 
(ii) Share options: 

  

 The share options reserve represents the equity settled share options 

granted to eligible directors and employees. This reserve is made up of 

the cumulative value of services received from eligible directors and 

employees recorded on the grant date of share options. Details of share 

options granted to eligible directors and employees are disclosed in 

Note 38. 



   Company No. 2444 - M    

 
              

82 

29. RESERVES (CONT’D) 

 

(a) Non-distributable (Cont’d): 

 
(iii) AFS reserve arose from the following: 

 

  The Group 

 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

    

Balance as at 1 April - - 

Effects of adopting FRS 139 6,752,706 - 

   

Restated as at 1 April 6,752,706 - 

Other comprehensive income:   

  Unrealised net gain on revaluation 2,025,811 - 

   

Balance as at 31 March 8,778,517 - 

 

The AFS reserve represents accumulated gains and/or losses arising 

from the revaluation of AFS financial assets that have been recognised 

in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or 

loss when those assets have been disposed of and/or impaired.     

 

(b) Distributable: 

 
Retained earnings: 

 

Distributable reserves are those available for distribution as dividends. 
 

Malaysian companies presently adopt the full imputation tax system. The 

Government has introduced the single-tier tax system under the Finance Act 

2007 for companies effective from the year of assessment 2008. Under the 

single-tier tax system, the Company shall not deduct tax on dividend paid, 

credited or distributed to its shareholders and such dividend will be exempted 

from tax in the hands of shareholders. 
 

There is a transitional period of 6 years from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 

2013 to allow companies with balance in the Section 108 of the Income Tax 

Act, 1967 (“S108”) account to pay franked dividends in cash to their ordinary 

shareholders. Such companies also have an irrevocable option to disregard the 

S108 balance and opt to pay dividends under the single-tier system. This 

change in tax law also provides for the S108 balance to be locked in as at 31 

December 2007.  

 

On 15 September 2010, the Company has elected to switch over to single tier 

dividend. Therefore, the dividend paid, credited or distributed to shareholders 

are not tax deductible by the Company, but are exempted from tax in the 

hands of the shareholders (“single-tier system”). 
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29. RESERVES (CONT’D) 

 

(c) Supplementary information – Disclosure on realised and unrealised 

profits 

 
Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s directive dated 20 December 

2010, further information on the retained earnings in relation to realised and 

unrealised profits of the Group and the Company is as follows: 

 

 The Group  The Company 

 2011  2011 

 RM  RM 
 

Total retained earnings   

-  Realised  315,437,148  213,789,979 

-  Unrealised  (18,634,253) (7,613)

   

Total retained earnings 296,802,895 213,782,366 

 

 

30. HIRE-PURCHASE PAYABLES 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
 

Total outstanding 843,519  642,647  -  12,336 

Less: Future finance charges (90,527)  (39,834)  -  (270) 

        

Principal outstanding  752,992  602,813  -  12,066 

Less: Amounts due within  

            one year              (172,779) 

 

(210,801) 

  

- 

  

(12,066) 

        

Non-current portion 580,213  392,012  -  - 
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30. HIRE-PURCHASE PAYABLES (CONT’D) 
 

The non-current portion of the hire-purchase obligations is as follows: 
 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
 

Financial years ending 31 March:  
     

  2012 - 206,605 - - 

  2013 181,205 104,703 - - 

  2014 155,311 36,244 - - 

  2015 146,209 20,022 - - 

  2016 93,949 20,899 - - 

  2017 3,539 3,539 - - 
     

 580,213 392,012 - - 

 

 The interest rates implicit in these hire-purchase arrangements of the Group and of the 

Company ranges from 2.65% to 6.18% (2010: 2.65% to 7.65%) and at nil (2010: 

7.65%) per annum respectively. The Group’s hire-purchase payables are secured by a 

charge over the assets under hire-purchase. 
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31. BORROWINGS 
 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

Note RM  RM  RM  RM 
        

At amortised cost 

Secured  

    

Current      

Fixed rate MTNs  (a) 32,593,800 13,551,574 - - 

Underwritten      

  commercial papers 

 

(b) - 3,983,144 - 

 

- 

ABS (c) 115,913,059 88,964,055 - - 

Term loans (d) 12,452,399 12,388,365 - - 

Revolving credits (e) 190,135,189 147,915,197 - - 

Bank overdrafts (f) 5,399,262 4,671 -                 - 
      

  356,493,709 266,807,006 - - 
      

Non-Current      

Fixed rate MTNs  (a) 176,762,531 215,510,541 - - 

ABS (c) 463,000,000 360,000,000 - - 

Term loans (d) 77,416,530 89,742,175 - - 
      

  717,179,061 665,252,716 - - 
      

  1,073,672,770 932,059,722 - - 
 

Unsecured      

Current      

Term loans (d) 40,432,507 40,362,644 40,432,507 284,507 

Trust receipts (g) 9,054,051 1,286,353 - - 

Bankers’  

  acceptances 

 

(g) 10,896,858 11,681,623 - 

 

- 

Revolving credits (e) 17,900,876 6,668,170 - - 

Bank overdrafts (f) 9,937,422 - - - 
      

  88,221,714 59,998,790 40,432,507 284,507 
 

Non-current 
     

Term loans (d) - 40,000,000 - 40,000,000 

Revolving credits (e) 20,200,000 - - - 
      

  20,200,000 40,000,000 - 40,000,000 
      

  108,421,714 99,998,790 40,432,507 40,284,507 
      

 1,182,094,484 1,032,058,512 40,432,507 40,284,507 
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 
 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

Disclosed in the financial 

  statements as: 

    

Current   444,715,423 326,805,796 40,432,507 284,507 

Non-current   737,379,061 705,252,716 - 40,000,000 

      

  1,182,094,484 1,032,058,512 40,432,507 40,284,507 

 
The maturity profile of the borrowings is as follows: 

 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

On demand or within 

one year 

 

444,715,423 

  

326,805,796 

  

40,432,507 

  

284,507 

More than 1 year and 

less than 2 years 

 

181,472,377 

  

149,258,905 

  

- 

  

40,000,000 

More than 2 years and 

less than 5 years 

 

394,555,725 

  

378,389,867 

  

- 

  

- 

More than 5 years 161,350,959  177,603,944  -  - 

        

 1,182,094,484  1,032,058,512  40,432,507  40,284,507 

 

(a)  Fixed rate MTNs 

  

During the financial year ended 31 March 2007, a subsidiary company, RCE 

Advance Sdn. Bhd. (“RCEA”), fully issued its RM420 million 5-year fixed 

rate MTNs for the purpose of financing the working capital of the Group, out 

of which RM70 million MTNs were initially subscribed by a subsidiary 

company within the Group, RCE Equity Sdn. Bhd (“RCEE”). Subsequently, 

RCEE disposed of RM10 million with remaining RM60 million as at the 

reporting date. 

 

The MTNs were constituted by a trust deed dated 23 November 2006 made 

between RCEA and the Trustee for the holders of the MTNs. 
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 

  

(a)  Fixed rate MTNs (cont’d) 

  
The main features of the MTNs are as follows: 

 

(i) The maximum issue size of the RM420 million MTNs comprises:  

 

• RM240 million Class A MTNs; 

• RM120 million Class B MTNs; and 

• RM60 million Class C MTNs. 

 
(ii) The MTNs were issued up to a maximum of six (6) tranches of RM70 

million each (“Tranche”) with each respective Tranche comprising the 

following: 

 

 

 

 

 

Tranches 

Class A 

MTNs 

issue 

size 

RM’000 

 Class B 

MTNs 

issue 

size 

RM’000 

  

Class C 

MTNs 

issue size 

RM’000 

  

 

Total 

issue size 

RM’000 

        
A 40,000  20,000  10,000  70,000 

B 40,000  20,000  10,000  70,000 

C 40,000  20,000  10,000  70,000 

D 40,000  20,000  10,000  70,000 

E 40,000  20,000  10,000  70,000 

F 40,000  20,000  10,000  70,000 

 

Total 240,000 

 

120,000 

 

60,000 

 

420,000 
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 

  

(a)  Fixed rate MTNs (cont’d) 

  
(iii) Each Tranche of MTNs is sub-divided into twelve (12) series 

(“Series”) which are categorised into Class A MTNs, Class B MTNs 

and Class C MTNs, based on the different collateralisation ratios. The 

class and tenure of each Series per Tranche are set out as below: 

 

 

 

Series 

 

Tenure  

Years 

 Class A 

MTNs 

RM’000 

 Class B 

MTNs 

RM’000 

 Class C 

MTNs 

RM’000 
        

1 Three (3)  10,000  -  - 

2 Four (4)  5,000  -  - 

3 Five (5)  5,000  -  - 

4 Six (6)  5,000  -  - 

5 Six (6)  -  5,000  - 

6 Seven (7)  -  5,000  - 

7 Eight (8)  5,000  -  - 

8 Eight (8)  -  5,000  - 

9 Nine (9)  5,000  -  - 

10 Ten (10)  5,000  -  - 

11 Ten (10)  -  5,000  - 

12 Ten (10)  -  -  10,000 

        

   40,000  20,000  10,000 

 

(iv) All MTNs under Tranche A were issued at par; 

 

(v) The Class A MTNs and Class B MTNs issued under all subsequent 

Tranches were issued at par, premium or a discount to face value 

depending on the yield to maturity agreed with the private placement 

investor(s) at the time of issuance of each Tranche while Class C 

MTNs issued under all subsequent Tranches were issued at par; 

 

(vi) Each series of the MTNs under Class A MTNs and Class B MTNs  

bear a fixed coupon rates ranging from 6.25% to 9.00% per annum, 

payable semi-annually in arrears with the last coupon payment to be 

made on the respective maturity dates; and 
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 

  

(a)  Fixed rate MTNs (cont’d) 

  
 (vii) The Class C MTNs bear an initial fixed coupon rate at 15.00% per 

annum, but may be reset on the third and/or sixth anniversary from the 

issuance of the Class C MTNs at a new coupon rate to be determined 

between the Noteholders of the Class C MTNs and RCEA at the time 

the coupon rate is to be reset. The coupon payment under the Class C 

MTNs shall be calculated annually but payment is deferred until all 

Class A MTNs and Class B MTNs have been fully redeemed. The 

entire deferred Class C MTNs coupon payment will be paid in one 

lump sum. 

 

The MTNs are secured against the following: 

 

(i) A third party first legal charge by RCE Marketing Sdn. Bhd. 

(“RCEM”), the immediate holding company of RCEA, over the entire 

issued and paid-up share capital of RCEA; 

 

(ii) A debenture incorporating a first fixed and floating charge over the 

entire undertaking, property, assets and rights, both present and future 

of RCEA; 

 

(iii) An assignment of the rights, title, benefit and interest under the eligible 

receivables purchased by RCEA; 

 

(iv) An assignment over the present and future rights, title, benefit and 

interest in certain bank accounts of RCEA; 

 

(v)  An undertaking from RCEM; and 

 

(vi) An irrevocable corporate guarantee from the Company. 

 

(b)  Fixed rate serial bonds and underwritten commercial papers 
  

A subsidiary, RCE Premier Sdn. Bhd. (“RCEP”), fully issued its RM45 

million 5-year fixed rate serial bonds (“Bonds”) and RM45 million out of a 

total of RM50 million 7-year underwritten commercial papers (“CPs”) 

(“RM95 million Programme”) for the purpose of financing the working capital 

of the Group. 

 

The Bonds and the CPs were constituted by a trust deed dated 7 September 

2004 made between RCEP and the Trustee for the holders of the Bonds and 

CPs. 
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 

  

(b)  Fixed rate serial bonds and underwritten commercial papers (cont’d) 

  

The main features of the RM45 million Bonds are as follows:  

 

(i) The Bonds were issued at their nominal value in four (4) tranches with 

their respective maturity below: 

 
 

 

 

(ii) Each tranche of the Bonds bears a fixed coupon rates ranging from 

6.60% to 8.00% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears with the 

last coupon payment to be made on the last respective maturity date; 

and 

 

(iii) Each tranche of the Bonds shall be redeemed at its nominal value on 

maturity date together with interest accrued to the date of redemption. 

 

During the financial year ended 31 March 2010, all tranches of the Bonds 

were fully redeemed. 

 

The main features of the CPs of up to RM50 million are as follows:  

 

(i) The CPs are negotiable non-interest bearing promissory notes issued at 

discount to its nominal value with a tenure of seven (7) years from the 

date of its first issuance; 

 

 

Tranche 

Nominal 

value 

RM’000 

 

 

Maturity date 
  

1 10,000 20 October 2006 

2 10,000 20 October 2007 

3 10,000 20 October 2008 

4 15,000 20 October 2009 

   

 45,000  
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 

  

(b)  Fixed rate serial bonds and underwritten commercial papers (cont’d) 

  

 (ii) The CPs shall be issued for tenures of one (1), two (2), three (3), six 

(6), nine (9) or twelve (12) months, at the option of RCEP subject to 

the amount available pursuant to its reduction schedule below: 

 

Reduction date (from 

the first issue date) 

Reduction amount 

RM’000 

CP limit 

RM’000 

   

Fourth year 12,500 37,500 

Fifth year 12,500 25,000 

Sixth year 12,500 12,500 

Seventh year 12,500 - 

 

(iii) Upon maturity of each of the CPs issued for tenures of one (1), two (2), 

three (3), six (6), nine (9) or twelve (12) months, RCEP has an option 

to redeem the CPs or to rollover the CPs previously issued; 

 

(iv) The frequency of interest or equivalent payment is dependent on the 

frequency of issuance of CPs by RCEP for maturities of one (1), two 

(2), three (3), six (6), nine (9) or twelve (12) months at a discounted 

basis, which shall be payable in arrears upon the respective maturity 

dates of the CPs; and 

 

(v) The final tranche of CPs issued bears interest rate at 5.95% (2010: 

5.75%) per annum. 

 

The remaining RM4 million of the CPs issued in 2010 were fully redeemed 

during the financial year.  

 

The Bonds and CPs were secured against the following: 

 

(i) A third party first legal charge by RCEM over the entire issued and 

paid-up share capital of RCEP; 

 

(ii) A debenture incorporating a first fixed and floating charge over the 

entire undertaking, property, assets and rights, both present and future, 

of RCEP; 

 

(iii) An assignment of the rights, title, benefit and interest under the eligible 

receivables purchased by RCEP; 

 

(iv) An assignment over the present and future rights, title, benefit and 

interest in certain bank accounts of RCEP; 

 

(v) An undertaking from RCEM; and 
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 

 

(b)  Fixed rate serial bonds and underwritten commercial papers (cont’d) 

  

(vi)  An irrevocable corporate guarantee from the Company. 

 

During the financial year, the RM95 million Programme has been terminated 

and related securities have been fully discharged. 

 

(c) ABS 

 
Tresor Assets Berhad (“TAB”) was incorporated on 31 May 2007 as a special 

purpose vehicle for the sole purpose of undertaking the ABS exercise 

amounting up to RM1.5 billion which involves the purchase from RCEM from 

time to time of the loans and receivables meeting certain pre-determined 

eligibility criteria. The purchase of the loans and receivables were funded by 

the proceeds from the issuance of ABS by TAB. 

 

In relation to the ABS programme, Revolving Credit 1 and 2 respectively were 

granted by a financial institution to finance the origination and/or acquisition 

of the loans and receivables to reach an economically meaningful amount of 

approximately RM100 million before they are sold at any time and from time 

to time throughout the facility availability period of 5.5 years to TAB. 

 

During the financial year, TAB further issued the seventh, eighth and ninth 

(2010: fifth and sixth) tranche of ABS amounting to RM100 million each for 

the seventh and eighth tranche and RM83.8 million for the ninth tranche.  

 

The ABS is constituted by a trust deed dated 15 November 2007 made 

between TAB and the Trustee of the holders of the ABS. 

 

The main features of the ABS are as follows: 

 

(i) The maximum issue size of the RM1.5 billion ABS consists of a 

multiple series of Senior and Subordinated Bonds;  

 

(ii) The nine ABS tranches of RM100 million each (except for Tranche E 

of RM96.9 million and Tranche I of RM83.8 million) issued at par and 

have a maturity tenor ranging from one (1) to ten (10) years within 

each tranche; 

 

(iii) Each series of Senior Bonds bears fixed coupon rates ranging from 

4.30% to 9.05% (2010: 4.30% to 9.05%) per annum, payable semi-

annually in arrears with the last coupon payment to be made on the 

respective maturity dates; and   
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 

  

(c) ABS (Cont’d) 

 
(iv) The Subordinated Bonds issued under Tranches A to I bear a variable 

coupon rates and the coupon payment on the Subordinated Bonds shall 

be accrued on a semi-annual basis and payable in full or in part upon 

the full redemption of all Senior Bonds in Tranches A to I. 

 

The ABS are secured against the following: 

 

(i) A debenture incorporating a first fixed and floating charge over the 

entire undertaking, property, assets and rights, both present and future 

of TAB; 

 

(ii) An assignment of First and Second Master Sale and Purchase 

Agreements; 

 

(iii) An assignment of Servicing Agreement; 

 

(iv) An assignment of Transaction Administration Agreement; 

 

(v) An assignment of Administration Agreement; and 

 

(vi) An assignment of Rights to Members’ Agreement. 

 

(d)  Term loan 1 (Unsecured) 

 

On 9 September 2005 and 8 January 2007, two (2) unsecured term loans of 

RM40 million each were granted to RCEM and the Company respectively 

pursuant to a Primary Collateralised Loan Obligation Transaction Facility 

Agreements (“Facility Agreements”) entered into by RCEM and the 

Company, with a third party and a financial institution.  Both term loans have 

a maturity period not exceeding five (5) years commencing from the date of 

drawdown of the facility and is repayable in one lump sum upon maturity. 

 

During the financial year, the term loan granted to RCEM has been  fully 

repaid upon maturity. It bore interest rate at 7.13% (2010: 7.13%). 

 

The remaining term loan bears interest rate at 7.63% (2010: 7.63%) per 

annum. 
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 

  

(d)  Term loan 2 (Secured) 

 

During the financial year ended 31 March 2009, a term loan of RM9 million 

was granted to RCE Synergy Sdn. Bhd. (“RCES”) to refinance its remaining 

balance of RM9.5 million from a term loan facility of RM32 million obtained 

on 30 August 2005. The term loan facility is secured by an irrevocable 

corporate guarantee by the Company  and a memorandum of deposit over the 

AmFirst REIT held by RCES as disclosed in Notes 20 and 21. The said term 

loan bears interest at rates ranging from 6.55% to 7.05% (2010: 6.30% to 

6.55%) per annum. 

 

 Term loan 3 (Secured) 

 
During the financial year ended 31 March 2010, a term loan facility of RM100 

million was granted to RCEM for the purpose of financing the working capital 

of RCEM. 

 

The term loan 3 is secured against the following: 

 

(i) An assignment of rights, title, benefit, and interest of receivables under 

the agreement entered into between RCEM with Cooperative; 

 

(ii) An assignment of the loans and receivables;  

 

(iii) An irrevocable undertaking by RCEM;  

 

(iv) An assignment of the designated accounts and all monies standing to 

the credit of the accounts; and 

 

(v) An irrevocable corporate guarantee by the Company. 

 

The said term loan bears interest rate at 7.60% (2010: 7.60%) per annum for a 

tenure of nine (9) years from the date of the disbursement of term loan. 

 

(e)  Revolving credit 1, 2 and 3 (Secured) 

 

During the financial year ended 31 March 2008, two (2) revolving credit 

facilities amounting to RM150 million (Revolving credit 1 and 2) were 

granted to RCEM in conjunction with the ABS exercise as mentioned in Note 

31(c). 

 

In addition, during the financial year ended 31 March 2009, RCEM obtained 

another revolving credit facility of RM30 million (Revolving credit 3) from 

another financial institution for the purpose of financing the working capital of 

RCEM. This revolving credit facility is increased by RM20 million to a total 

limit of RM50 million during the current financial year. 
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 

  

(e)  Revolving credit 1, 2 and 3 (Secured) 

 

All of the facilities are secured against the following: 

 

(i) An assignment of rights, title, benefit, and interest of receivables under 

the agreement entered into between RCEM with Cooperative; 

 

(ii) An assignment of the loans and receivables; 

 

(iii) An irrevocable undertaking by RCEM; 

 

(iv) An assignment of the designated accounts and all monies standing to 

the credit of the accounts; and 

 

(v) An irrevocable corporate guarantee by the Company. 

 

The revolving credit bears interest at rates ranging from 4.27% to 7.30% 

(2010: 3.70% to 6.80%) per annum. 

 

Revolving credit 4 and 5 (Unsecured) 

 

All revolving credit facilities of RCEF amounting to RM10 million (2010: 

RM10 million) (Revolving credit 4) are secured by a corporate guarantee by 

the Company. The revolving credits bear interest at rates ranging from 4.05% 

to 4.84% (2010: 3.51% to 4.27%) per annum. 

 

During the financial year, a revolving credit facility of RM40 million 

(Revolving credit 5) was granted to RCEM with a maturity period of three (3) 

years for the purpose of financing the working capital of RCEM. The said 

revolving credit is secured by a corporate guarantee by the Company. The 

revolving credit bears interest at rates ranging from 5.20% to 5.26% (2010: 

nil) per annum. 
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31. BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 

  

 (f)  Bank overdrafts 1, 2 , 3 and 4 (Secured and Unsecured) 

 

The bank overdraft facility of RCEF amounting to RM1.7 million (2010: 

RM1.7 million) (Bank overdraft 1) is secured by an irrevocable corporate 

guarantee by the Company. 

 

The bank overdraft facility of RCE Commerce Sdn. Bhd. (“RCEC”) of 

RM1,000,000 (2010: RM1,000,000) (Bank overdraft 2) is secured by the 

following: 

 

(i) A negative pledge not to encumber or dispose of RCEC’s assets; and  

 

(ii) An irrevocable corporate guarantee by the Company. 

 

The bank overdraft facility of RCES amounting to RM5.5 million (Bank 

overdraft 3) is guaranteed by the Company and secured by a memorandum of 

deposit over the AmFirst REIT held by RCES as disclosed in Notes 20 and 21. 

 

During the financial year, an overdraft facility (Bank overdraft 4) amounting 

to RM10 million was granted to RCEM for working capital purposes. This 

facility is secured by a corporate guarantee by the Company. 

 

The overdraft facilities bear interest at rates ranging from 7.00% to 8.30% 

(2010: 6.55% to 7.80%) per annum. 

 

(g)  Others (Unsecured) 
 

All bankers’ acceptances, trust receipts and bills payable amounting to RM24 

million (2010: RM24 million) are secured by an irrevocable corporate 

guarantee by the Company. 

 

The bankers’ acceptances and trust receipts facilities bear interest at rates 

ranging from 4.00% to 8.30% (2010: 3.41% to 7.10%) per annum. 
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32. PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES  
 

 The Group The Company 

 2011  2010  2011  2010 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
 

Payables  84,230,861 51,178,488 - 33,500 

Other accrued expenses 4,992,891 7,250,282 306,031 513,898 

Dividend payable 67,221 57,851 67,221 57,851 

     

 89,290,973 58,486,621 373,252 605,249 

 

Included in payables of the Group are: 

 

(i) deferred income in relation to payment guarantee of RM51,527,339 (2010: 

RM11,795,405) held by subsidiary companies in respect of strategic alliance 

arrangements entered into with a co-operative; and 

 

(ii) advance payments from customers amounting to RM13,908,909 (2010:  

RM8,948,826); and 

 

(iii) collections received of RM1,952,965 (2010: RM2,202,880) on behalf of various 

co-operatives by a subsidiary in its capacity as the collection and payment agent. 

 

 

33. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 

 

 The Group 
  

Minimum 

lease payments 

Present value of 

minimum lease 

payments 
 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 RM RM RM RM 

Amount payable under  

  finance lease: 

 

    Within one year  -  27,513 - 26,965 

Less: Future finance charges -  (548) - - 

     

Present value of finance 

lease payables - 

 

26,965 - 26,965 

   

Less: Amounts due within 12 months 

(shown under current liabilities) 

 

- (26,965) 

 

Non-current portion -  - 
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33. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES (CONT’D) 
 

During the financial year, the finance lease has been fully settled and the leased assets 

have been fully bought over. The interest rates implicit in these finance lease 

arrangements of the Group as at reporting date is nil (2010: 7.29% to 9.63%) per 

annum. The Group’s finance lease payables were secured by a charge over the leased 

assets. 

 

 

34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS  

  
 The Group  
 2011  2010 

 RM  RM 

    

Capital expenditure in respect of  

  plant and equipment:  

   

    

  Approved, contracted but not provided for  902,688  - 

 

 

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  

 

 The Company 
 2011  2010 
 RM  RM 

    

Corporate guarantee issued in favour of a trustee 

in respect of MTNs facility granted to a 

subsidiary company 

   

 

420,000,000 
 

420,000,000 

Corporate guarantee to licensed financial  

institutions in respect of borrowing facilities 

granted to subsidiary companies 

   

 

334,200,000 
 

404,200,000 

Corporate guarantee issued in favour of a trustee 

in respect of: 

(i) 5-year fixed rate serial bonds; and  

(ii) 7-year underwritten commercial papers 

             granted to a subsidiary company 

   

 

45,000,000 

 

50,000,000 

 

- 

 

- 

    

 824,200,000  849,200,000 

 

As at the reporting date, the fair value of the above corporate guarantees is nil. 

 

Included in the above facilities are amount outstanding of RM566,985,485 (2010: 

RM501,446,012). Out of these amounts, total unsecured letters of credit amounted to 

RM4,236,567 (2010: RM2,587,030) which were not recognised in the financial 

statements.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 

 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

 

The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies are monitored by a 

Risk Management Committee which reports to the Audit Committee. 

 

The operations of the Group are subject to a variety of financial risks, including 

interest rate (both fair value and cash flow), credit and liquidity risks. The Group has 

taken measures to minimise its exposure to risks and/or costs associated with the 

financing, investing and operating activities of the Group and of the Company. 

 

The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative 

financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 

 

(a) Interest rate risk  
 

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument 

will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Cash flow interest rate 

risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. 

 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk mainly from differences in timing 

between the maturities or re-pricing of its interest-bearing assets and 

liabilities. 

 

Sensitivity to interest rates arises from mismatches in the interest rate 

characteristics of the assets and their corresponding liability funding. These 

mismatches are managed as part of the overall interest rate risk management 

process of the Group. 

 

The Group manages its interest rate risk exposure from interest bearing 

borrowings by maintaining a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings. The 

Group actively reviews its debt portfolio, taking into consideration the 

repayment and maturity profiles of its borrowings and the nature of its assets. 

This strategy allows it to capitalise on cheaper funding in a low interest rate 

environment and achieve a certain level of protection against rate hikes.  
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D) 

 

(b) Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of default that may arise on its outstanding contractual 

obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group adopts a policy 

of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient 

collaterals, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk. 

 

 (i) Loan financing services: 

 
The Group manages this risk by exercising adequate credit evaluation 

measures in its lending criteria and stringent monitoring of repayment. 

Exposure to credit risk is mitigated through an ongoing monitoring 

procedure on the repayment via salary deduction from its loans and 

receivables.  

 

The Group does not have any significant concentration of credit risk 

due to its large number of underlying borrowers. The maximum 

exposure to credit risk of the Group is represented by the carrying 

amount of each financial asset. 
 

(ii) Factoring and confirming: 

 

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. 

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit 

terms are subject to credit verification procedures.  

 

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets which comprise 

cash and cash equivalents, and AFS financial assets arises from default 

of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 

amount of these financial assets.  

 

The information on significant concentration of credit risk are 

disclosed in Note 24. 

 

(c) Liquidity risk 

 

The Group actively manages its operating cash flows and the availability of 

funding so as to ensure that all repayment and funding needs are met.  As part 

of its overall prudent liquidity management, the Group maintains sufficient 

levels of cash to meet its working capital requirements. In addition, the Group 

strives to maintain available banking facilities at a reasonable level to its 

overall debt position. 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D) 
 

Interest rate and liquidity risk tables 

 

The following table sets out the weighted average effective interest rates 

(“WAEIR”), carrying amounts and the remaining maturities as at the reporting 

date of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments that are exposed 

to interest rate risk: 

 
      Maturity profile 

   

WAEIR 

 

Total 

 Within 

1 year 

 2-5 

years 

 After 

5 years 

 Note % RM  RM  RM  RM 

The Group         

2011         

Fixed rate      

Loans and  

  receivables 19 14.09 1,085,754,380  112,590,590  299,054,699  674,109,091 

Trade receivables 24 12.06 37,414,220  37,414,220  -  - 

Hire-purchase 

  payables 

 

30 

 

5.11 

 

752,992 

  

172,779 

  

576,674 

  

3,539 

Term loans 

  (unsecured) 31 10.82 40,432,507  40,432,507  -  - 

Fixed rate MTNs 31 10.18 209,356,331  32,593,800  143,189,350  33,573,181 

ABS 31 7.09 578,913,059  115,913,059  363,000,000  100,000,000 

 
Floating rate       

Deposits with 

  licensed financial  

  institutions 

 

 

27 

 

 

2.88 

 

 

512,150,091 

 

 

512,150,091 - - 

Term loan 

  (secured) 

 

31 

 

7.56 89,868,929 12,452,399 49,638,752 27,777,778 

Revolving credits     31 5.24 228,236,065 208,036,065 20,200,000 - 

Other bank 

  borrowings * 

 

31 

 

6.11 

 

35,287,593 

 

35,287,593 

 

- 

 

- 

 
The Group         

2010         

Fixed rate      

Loans and  

  receivables 19 15.47 1,138,607,988 146,080,924 388,350,782 604,176,282 

Trade receivables 24 12.19 30,789,531 30,789,531 - - 

Hire-purchase 

  payables 

 

30 

 

3.07 

 

602,813 

 

210,801 

 

367,574 

 

24,438 

Finance lease  

  payables 

 

33 

 

8.26 

 

26,965 

 

26,965 

 

- 

 

- 

Term loans 

  (unsecured) 31 9.64 80,362,644 40,362,644 40,000,000 - 

Fixed rate MTNs 31 9.78 229,062,115 13,551,574 152,568,727 62,941,814 

ABS 31 7.16 448,964,055 88,964,055 285,000,000 75,000,000 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)  

 

Interest rate and liquidity risk tables (Cont’d) 

 
     Maturity profile 

   

WAEIR 

 

Total 

 Within 

1 year 

 2-5 

years 

 After 

5 years 

 Note % RM  RM  RM RM 

The Group         

2010         

Floating rate         

Deposits with 

  licensed financial  

  institutions 

 

 

27 

 

 

2.10 

 

 

270,935,391 

  

 

270,935,391 

 

- - 

Term loan 

  (secured) 

 

31 

 

7.52 102,130,540  12,388,365  50,080,044 39,662,131 

Underwritten 

  commercial 

  papers 

 

 

31 

 

 

5.75 

 

 

3,983,144 

  

 

3,983,144 

  

 

- 

 

 

- 

Revolving credits     31 4.55 154,583,367  154,583,367  - - 

Other bank 

  borrowings * 

 

31 

 

4.26 

 

12,972,647 

  

12,972,647 

  

- 

 

- 
 

 
  The Company 

2011      

Fixed rate      

Term loan 

  (unsecured) 

 

31 

 

10.82 

 

40,432,507 

 

40,432,507 

 

- 

 

- 

      

Floating rate      

Deposits with  

  licensed 

  financial  

  institutions 

 

 

 

27 

 

 

 

1.96 

 

 

 

81,920 

 

 

 

81,920 - - 

 
 The Company 

2010      

Fixed rate      

Hire-purchase 

  payable 30 7.65 

 

12,066 

 

12,066 

 

- - 

Term loan 

  (unsecured) 

 

31 

 

9.01 

 

40,284,507 

 

284,507 

 

40,000,000 

 

- 

      

Floating rate      

Deposits with  

  licensed 

  financial  

  institutions 

 

 

 

27 

 

 

 

1.16 

 

 

 

66,058 

 

 

 

66,058 - - 

 

* Other bank borrowings comprise trust receipts, bankers’ acceptances and 

bank overdraft. 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D) 

 

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk 

 
At the reporting date, if interest rate had been 50 basis points lower/higher, 

with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the financial year 

would increase/decrease by RM1,346,462 arising mainly as a result of a 

lower/higher interest expense on floating rate borrowings. 

 

(d) Fair values 

 
The accounting policies applicable to the major financial assets and liabilities 

are as disclosed in Note 3.  

 

 (i) Financial assets 

 
The Group and the Company’s principal financial assets are cash and 

cash equivalents, receivables and AFS financial assets.  

 

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments  

 

Debts and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or equity 

in accordance with the substance of the contractual agreement.  

 

Significant financial liabilities include payables and borrowings. 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D) 

 

(d) Fair values (Cont’d) 

 
The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities of the Group at the 

reporting date approximate their fair value except for the following: 

 

 2011 2010 

  Carrying  Fair  Carrying  Fair 

  amount  value  amount  value 

 Note RM  RM  RM  RM 

 

Financial  

  Liabilities 
Borrowings 

      

  - Fixed rate MTNs  

(including accrued  

interest of  

RM2,644,191 

(2010:  

RM3,588,638) 

 

 

 

 

 

31 

 

 

 

 

209,356,331 

  

 

 

 

 

216,512,192 

  

 

 

 

 

229,062,115 

 

 

 

 

 

236,193,531 

       

  - ABS (including  

accrued interest of  
RM9,913,059  

(2010: 

RM7,964,055) 

 

 
 

 

31 

 

 
 

 

578,913,059 

 

 
 

 

575,581,760 

 

 
 

 

448,964,055 

 

 
 

 

439,748,835 

 
The methods and assumptions used by management to determine the fair 

values of the financial instruments are as follows: 

 

(i) AFS - Quoted investments in Malaysia 

 

The fair value is determined by reference to the exchange quoted 

market bid prices at the close of the business on the reporting date. 

 

(ii) AFS - Unquoted investments in Malaysia 

 

The fair value is estimated by using a discounted cash flow model 

based on various assumptions, including current and expected future 

credit losses. 

 

(iii) Fixed rate MTNs  

 

The fair values are estimated using discounting technique. The 

discount rates are based on market rates available to the Group for 

similar instruments. 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D) 

 

(d) Fair values (Cont’d) 

 
(iv) ABS 

 

The fair value is estimated using discounting technique. The discount 

rates are based on latest issued tranche’s yield to maturity.  

 

(v) Short term financial instruments 

 

The fair values are estimated to approximate their carrying amounts as 

the financial instruments are considered short term in nature. 

 

 

37.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group continue as going 

concerns while maximising return to stakeholders.  

 

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net borrowings divided by 

total equity. Net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash 

equivalents. Total equity is calculated as share capital plus reserves as shown in the 

statements of financial position. 

 

The gearing ratio at 31 March 2011 and 2010 is as follows:          

 

 The Group The Company 
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
  RM  RM  RM  RM 

         

Total borrowings  1,182,094,484 1,032,058,512  40,432,507  40,284,507 

Less:  Cash and 

cash 

equivalents 

 

(514,538,121) (289,710,931) (83,588) (71,637) 

     

Net borrowings  667,556,363 742,347,581  40,348,919  40,212,870 

        

Total equity  448,381,654  418,862,337  356,582,608  360,695,445 

 

Gearing ratio   

  (times)  

 

1.49 

 

1.77 

 

0.11  0.11 
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38. ESOS 

 
The ESOS is governed by the by-laws approved by the shareholders at an 

Extraordinary General Meeting held on 20 August 2009. The ESOS was implemented 

on 15 September 2009 and is to be in force for a period of ten (10) years from the date 

of implementation. 

 

The salient features of the ESOS are as follows: 

 

(a) The maximum number of shares to be issued under the ESOS shall not exceed 

15% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company at the time of the 

offer, of which not more than 50% of the shares shall be allocated, in 

aggregate, to directors and senior management; 

 

(b) Not more than 10% of the shares available under the ESOS shall be allocated 

to any individual director or employee who, either singly or collectively 

through his/her associates, holds 20% or more in the issued and paid-up share 

capital of the Company; 

 

(c) Allocation of the shares are extended to eligible directors and employees who 

are employed by or on the payroll of subsidiary companies of the Company 

which are not dormant; 

 

(d) The eligible directors and employees must have attained the age of 18 years 

and appointed or confirmed in service by the Group, subject to a minimum 

period as determined from time to time by the Options Committee, provided 

always that the selection of any eligible directors and employees is at the 

discretion of the Options Committee, which shall be final and binding; 

 

(e) The exercise price is determined at a discount of not more than 10% from the 

weighted average market price (“WAMP”) (calculated as the average of 

highest and lowest price) for the 5 (five) market days immediately preceding 

the date of offer and is not lower than the par value of the ordinary shares of 

the Company; and 

 

(f) The new shares allotted and issued upon any exercise of option, rank pari 

passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company and 

shall carry no dividends, rights, allotments and any other distribution which 

may be declared, made or paid prior to the allotment date of the new shares. 
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38. ESOS (CONT’D) 
 

The movements in number of share options pursuant to the ESOS during the financial 

year are as follows: 

 
  ESOS expiring on 14 September 2019 

  Number of options over ordinary shares of RM0.10 each 

 Exercise 

price per 

  

Balance as 

      

Cancelled/ 

  

Balance as 

Grant date share  at 1.4.2010  Granted  Exercised  Lapsed  at 31.3.2011 

 RM           

            

24 March 2010 0.59 17,843,900  -  (326,700)  (1,248,300)  16,268,900 

 

Share options outstanding at the end of the financial year amounting to 16,268,900 

(2010: 17,843,900) are exercisable towards the expiry date of the ESOS. 

 

The fair value of share options granted in the previous financial year, determined 

using the Trinomial valuation model, taking into account the terms and conditions 

upon which the share options were granted. The fair value of share options measured 

at grant date and the assumptions are as follows: 

 

     2010 
   

Fair value of share options at grant date, 24 March 2010 (RM)   0.367 

Weighted average share price (RM)   0.655 

Weighted average exercise price (RM)   0.590 

Expected volatility  (%)   47.964 

Expected life (years)   10 

Risk free rate (%)   4.409 

Expected dividend yield (%)   1.507 

 

The expected life of the share options is based on historical data and is not necessarily 

indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the 

assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also 

not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of the share options grant 

were incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 

 

There were no share options granted during the financial year. 
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39. RECLASSIFICATION AND COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the previous financial year’s financial statements to enhance comparability with the current 

year’s financial statements. The line items were reclassified as follows:  

 

 The Group  The Company 

     Reclassified      Reclassified 

 2010  Reclassification  2010  2010  Reclassification  2010 

 RM  RM RM  RM RM RM 
        

Current Assets        

Other receivables, deposits and   

  prepaid expenses 5,560,218 

 

(229,731) 5,330,487 

  

1,390,254 

  

(259,000) 

  

1,131,254 

        

 5,560,218  (229,731) 5,330,487  1,390,254  (259,000)    1,131,254 

           

Current Liabilities           

Payables and accrued expenses 71,004,385  (12,517,764) 58,486,621  1,148,756  (543,507)  605,249 

Borrowings 314,606,265  12,199,531 326,805,796  -  284,507  284,507 

Tax liabilities 2,152,719  88,502 2,241,221  -  -  - 

           

 387,763,369  (229,731) 387,533,638  1,148,756  (259,000)  889,756 
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40. SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

 
The Company announced on 26 November 2010 that Koperasi Wawasan Pekerja-

Pekerja Berhad (“KOWAJA”), being the largest borrower of the Group, had 

temporary halted its lending activities due to non-compliance with the Cooperative 

Commission of Malaysia’s (“CCM”) guidelines.  

 

Notwithstanding that, loans disbursed up to 30 November 2010 to KOWAJA continue 

to be serviced via the regular collection mechanism by KOWAJA. There has not been 

any disruption to date. 

 

The Company further announced on 9 June 2011 that KOWAJA has received 

approval from CCM to obtain funding from RCEM, a subsidiary of the Company 

subject to a limit of RM200 million and stringent operational, funding and other 

conditions. 

 

The Group and KOWAJA are working closely towards continuously complying with 

them. 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS 
 

The directors of RCE CAPITAL BERHAD state that, in their opinion, the financial 

statements of the Group and of the Company, which comprise the statements of financial 

position as at 31 March 2011, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of 

changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and a 

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 

10 to 109, are drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions 

of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, so as to give a true and fair view of the state of 

affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2011 and of the results of their 

business and the cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended on 

that date. 

 

The supplementary information set out in Note 29(c), which is not part of the financial 

statements, is prepared in all material respects, in accordance with Guidance on Special 

Matter No. 1 “Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of 

Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements” as issued by 

the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 

 

Signed on behalf of the Board 

in accordance with a resolution of the directors 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TAN SRI AZMAN HASHIM SOO KIM WAI 
 

Kuala Lumpur 

9 June 2011 
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RCE CAPITAL BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

 

DECLARATION BY THE OFFICER PRIMARILY RESPONSIBLE  

FOR THE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY 

 

I, YAP CHOON SENG, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of 

RCE CAPITAL BERHAD, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements 

of the Group and of the Company, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 

31 March 2011, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in 

equity and statements of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 10 to 109 are, 

in my opinion, correct and I make this solemnly declaration conscientiously believing the 

same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960. 

 

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the 

abovenamed YAP CHOON SENG at 

KUALA LUMPUR this 9th day of June 

2011. 

 

 

 

YAP CHOON SENG 

  

Before me  

  

  

  

  

  

  

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS 


